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OUR TECHNOLOGY -+

UEI's wireless control technology can be found in millions

of households worldwide. Our broad portfolio of patented
technologies and database of infrared control technology
have been adopted by Fortune 500 companies in the consumer
electronics, subscription broadcast, and computing industries
and now by professional custom installers worldwide.

anything’s possible.




o e

amyihing's possibie. 04 05 06




At Unfversal Electrenics Ine., we make all nes ef remete
contrel technelogias. Seme come bundied with yeur cable or
seeliite bess others come i & package &t your fevertte retalier.
Buk it's net he remete contrels themselves et set us agart as
2 company—Ir’'s the technelogy inside dhet’s the magic. Thet's
wiere all the exciiing pessibilities le. As youlll see in the pages
thet fellew, we'm & lot mere Ehen & remete Contrel COMmPany.
As & glebal leader n wireless contrel tedwmelegy, we're shaping
and ceffining what's pessible in e connecied home.



SUPPLYING THE MARKET -3

Jniversal Electronics Inc. is one of the principal suppliers
of ramote control technologies to cable end satellite

"V nroviders such as Comcast’, Cox Communications®,
SiracTV, Sky , TimeWarner and others. The demand for
our remote control technologies among cable and satellite
"V subscribers keeps growing. It's a larce market —with
cvar-increasing potential. According to the research firm
.1-Stet, 355 million households worldwide are currently
-za!2 households, and the number is projected to grow.
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MILLION
HOUSEHOLDS
WORLDWIDE
GET CABLE TV.
[In: Star)




IN STEP WITH THE MARKET -
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DVYR TECHNOLOGY WILL
BE iN 30 PERCENT OF ALL
U.5. HOUSEHOLDS 8Y 2009,

{Infarma Telecoms & Media}

2008

BY 2008, 37 MILLION U5,
HOUSEHOLDS WILL RECEIVE
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2016

BY 2016, THERE WILL BE
65 MILLION vOD HOMES
IN THE .5, Dupiter/Kagan)

2011

THERE WILL BE 151 MILLION
HDTY HOMES WORLDWIDE
BY THE END OF 2011 —

A THREE-FOLD INCREASE
OVER 43 MILLION IN 2806,

2 0 1 0 {tnforma Telecoms & Medial

8Y 2010, THERE WILL BE B0
MILLION IPTV SUBSCRIBERS
WORLDWIDE, UP FROM SIX
MILLION IN 2006.

{Strategy Analyticsh




THE SIRIUS CONDUC-
TOR HANDHELD
CONTROLLER MAKES
USE OF Z-WAVE™
WIRELESS PROTOCOL,
AN ADVANCED RADID
FREQUENCY (Rf)
COMMUNICATIONS
TECHNQLOGY THAT'S

ANTICIPATING THE NEED -

RAPIDLY BECOM-

ING THE STANGARD
IN WIRELESS HOME
CONTROL. IT ALLOWS
THE SIRIUS SUBSLRIB-
ERS TO ACCESS THE
SATELLITE NETWORK'S
MORE THAN 130
RADIO CHANNELS

AS WELL AS CONTRQL
GTHER TRADITIONAL
HOME ENTERTAIN-
MENT DEVICES WIRE-
LESSLY FROM UP TO
150 FEET AWAY.
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At UE) we don’t just follow the mearket, we
alse anticipate it Key to our suceess is ihe
faet thet we're slways Uiinking ainead &
wihet's nest.

One of our laiest products, unveiled in October, is a handheld media
controller designed for SIRIUS Satellite Radio [SIRI). It allows SIRIUS
subscribers to wirelessly navigate through more than 130 radio chan-
nels. The handheld controller not only controls multiple devices, but it
also displays song and station information via two-way RF on the built-in
LCD screen. It also provides seamless umversal control of other tradi-
tianal home entertainment devices from up to 150 feet away. Other UEI
products, including NevoSL® and Crystalis™, utilize the latest iwo-way
RF technology to make it easier than ever to manage, access, and inter-
act with media content from the palm of your hand.

MILLION
SUBSCRIBE

TO SATELLITE
RADID. (E-Marketer)



FILLING THE NEED -+
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MILLION U.5.
HOUSEHOLDS
WILL HAVE A

PC CONNECTED
ENTERTAINMENT
NETWORK 8Y

2010.

{Parhs Associates]

A
With the proliferatien of digital medle devices, |
there’s & need te siamplify—to make every-=
hing werk togeiher more seamiessly so
content is more accessible.
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L
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UEl is leading the charge to simplify digital media access with technology
like our latest release of SimpleCenter™. This PC software makes it pos-
sible to organize, enjoy, and share digital media at home or on the go—and
sync up with and stream to digitat devices like the iPod®, Sony PSP® and
Xbox 360%. Imagine: You can now wirelessly transfer digital music, pic-
tures, and movies between your mobile phone and laptop computer, You
can use your mobile phone to siream digital media anywhere in the home. I
And you can even have your car stereo start downloading new music from \-‘E.. .
your PC as soon as you pull into the garage. No wonder SimpleCenter -'3\/‘\,
has earned the tagline, "All media, All devices. One application.” \ @




PUSHING THE PARAMETERS -

THANKS TG UEI
TECHNOLOGY, HOME
AUTCMATIDN HAS
TRULY BECOME A
REALITY—MAKING
(T POSSIALE NOT
QONLY TQ ACCESS
AND CONTROL ALL
YOUR AUDIOVISUAL

DEVICES, BUT TO
EVEN TURN ON YOUR
LIGHTS AND CHANGE
YOUR THERMOSTAT,
FROM THE PALM CF
¥OUR HAND.
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13 PERCENT OF
U.5. HOUSEHOLDS
HAVE AT LEAST
ONE MID- OR
HIGH-LEVEL
AFTERMARKET

" CONTROLLER.
IT IS EXPECTED
TG GROW TO 22
PERCENT BY 2012,

At U, we're rue t® - o e
e Wit wireless

nat e off
winet's

UEI utilizes the very latest
two-way RF wireless technologies,
including Z-Wave®, Zigbee®, o _
and Wi-Fi® to free the user lo MediaZones (9. [j 448

contral devices and content from

anywhere in the home. NevoSL™, §i @ Living Room

our award-winning controller for
(\\ -n) Kitchen

the broadband home and one of
the first wi-fi enabled controllers,
provides a simple and interac-
tive way to wirelessly access and
connect every device in every
room of the house. Simply touch
the appropriate icons on the

Nevo display. That's alt it takes

to control your TV, stereo, lights,
and even the thermostat, as well
as enjoy digital media anywhere
in the home. Advanced controllers
like these give new meaning to the
term “connected home” and are
pushing the parameters of what's ) — I
possibie in delivering contral
solutions for the digital lifestyle.
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y o . KILUON PEOPLE
ARE ESTIMATED

. . 70 TOULH QUR
. i TECANOLOGY
. K e EVERY WEEK
- ) [ v e

- For us; it’s not enough to just introduce the latest in wireless
control technology. It's an obsession of ours that all our

k ----devices and technologies are simple enough for everyone tc
O .. .. use—even the least technijcally. oriented user. aThanks to.a new
VL quick setup’ solution} for: example you can now sét up your

" -universal remote qt.uckly and easﬂy while sitting on the sofa..
-Imagine control!mg all.your audiovisual equipment using a
simple 12-button remote, and, eyen_ access your favorite
R “programs or channels by simply using your voice. These are
w277 some of UEI's new and innovative solutions that are leading
SR the way in simplifying the home entertainment environment.

) - . . '
[ H .- . s . v .

recewers you name it, lwmg rgoms to dlgntal media
we re commltted o connect- UEI al ows you to control it, content on the PCsm thenr_ S
i mg people wrth}the technol- s¢mply| We re also workmg . home ofhces to mobde m
L ogy they usé every day-— " h W|th leaamg consumer ‘elec-, ;dla solutlonS'on their hand— 2
. and to szmpleymg how it al v tromgs broadcast Mmobile ‘."~_ held$ and in their cars By ' ‘\"-
- warks {ogether It sa cem- ~ “‘and techno[ogy compames prov:dmg the software, and,“
mltn"teﬂt that drives & every- . worldWIde to, help shape control solutmns that enable <
hlng we do asa company !he next evoluhon of- the -7 consumers lo wurelessly.
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A FUTYRE FULL OF POSSIBILITIES -2
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Fer mere than 20 years, Universal Electromies (e, hes bullt
he capabilities and the infrestructure te connect Peeplz
with the devices anel entartalnment they vse everydsy. And
as new dightal meeie tedmelegy and content ane introcuced
inte the heme—2adding Rew capabilifes and complexities
=we will continue te celiver few ane better contrel
selutiens that are easy te vse, Intuitive, and accessibie.
Selutiens thet wil empewer eYeryene (e SCess and
interact with an ever-inaressing armay ef dightal tedwmelogy.
Thaaks te UE) inneveiion, emytiing's
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T0 OUR SHAREHOLDERS -

HIEMETS 06

LISTED ONE OF FORBES 200 BEST SMALL
COMPANIES IN AMERICA TACTRHERTES EAIER
B O Bl AR BN SYO ERG R EAVERERH A NEERRE R GEN
[ G0 S ALV ERSATESEAN DERRO R EG R O Wil
ONFAVER AT ERRAVE RREDAHRH ENTA SINELV ERGEAR 5]
[ N DA Siign W E NV ERM O Nk 58

NAMED TO DELOITTE'S PRESTIGIOUS “TECHNOL-
OGY FAST 56° PROGRAM FOR ORANGE COUNTY,
D AUKRE AF T2E 70 FORTEGT MEERIRG
LLERITN O BOG A E O 1WA BE 60 b MU N RS ON o)
AN LR SEGRESRS SRREIES ) TEG ATEA

Paul Arling,
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
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Dear Shareholders: It has been quite a year for us. The record sales and
earnings we achieved in 2006 proved that the Company is not only suc-
cessfully capitalizing on the explosive growth in digital media and home
entertainment, but also helping to shape the future of these industries.
We have truly solidified our position as a world leader in wireless control
technology. With the digital media revolution dramatically changing all
aspects of our culture, new technology such as digital video recorders,
high-definition televisions, and digital music services are driving demand
for more innovative and easier ways to control it all—which is what UEI
does best. As new devices and technologies continue to transform the
way people enjoy entertainment in the home, UE! remains at the fore-
front of this transformation — with wireless control technology that is
making media more accessible and enjoyabile.

"The 2005 and 2006 earnings per diluted share listed above depicl adjusted earnings per share of $0.81 and 51.06, respectively. In 2005, adjusted earnings per diluted
share exclude 2 §1.5 millign write down of a balance due from a former European distributor. In 2005, adjusted earnings per diluted share exclude the share-based cam-
pensation expense for employea stock options and the related income tax affect, as recognized in accordance with SFAS 123R, The 2005 and prior earnings per diluted
share do not intlude the effect of share-based compensation expense, because UEl implemented SFAS 123R sffective January 1, 2006. Management believes adjusted
earnings per share provides a more meaningful measure of year-over-year financial performance.




TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS -+

At the same time, as technology in the consumer electronics, cable

and satellite, and computing industries continue to proliferate, users
are increasingly looking for ways that technology can simplify life—
not complicate it further. And no other company is better positioned

to make this a reality than UEI.

Qur best financial year ever. Net sales for the
year-ended December 31, 2006 were $235.8 million,
compared to $181.3 million in 2005 — a total revenue
increase of more than 30 percent. Adjusted net
income for the full year 2006 was $15.3 million, or
$1.06 per diluted share, compared to $11.3 million,
or $0.81 per diluted share, for the full year 2005.

Looking ahead, we foresee continued strong
performance in 2007. We are projecting full year
revenues to grow 10 to 15 percent.

Innovation remains the lifeblood of our orga-
nization, Over the past several years, UE! has
developed a broad portfolio of industry-leading
patented technologies and an extensive database of
infrared contral software that hava been adopted
by many Fortune 500 companies in the consumer
electronics, subscription breadcast and computing
industries. These include Comcast®, Cox Com-
munications®, DirecTV®, Sky®, and TimeWarner® in
the subscription broadcasting arena and consumer
elecironics giants like Mitsubishi®, Panasonic®
and Pioneer®,

UEl also sells and licenses wireless control
products through distributors and retailers under
the One For Al® brand name, and provides home
control solutions for the prefessional custom
installation market under the brand name Nevo®.

The Company atso develops software solutions for
digital media control and enjoyment in the con-
sumer and original equipment manufacturer [OEM]
markets under the brand SimpleCenter™.

Our entire platform is driven by one overarching
goal: to simplify the horme technology environment.
As the digital entertainment landscape undergoes
radical transformation as technology —and how
people interact with it — continues to evolve rapidly,
UElis enhancing the user experience for everyone by
making digital content and control easier and more
accessible, in every home and at every price paint.

Highlights of an extraordinary year.

o In October 2006, Universal Electronics Inc. an-
nounced the release of SimpleCenter™ 4.1 at the
Digital Life Show in New York City, where it was
named one of the best Horne Netwarking and Online
Entertainment Preducts. This digital media manage-
ment and cantrol software allows users to move
music, movies, and other media from PC to iPod,
Sony PSP, Nokia cell phone or ether multimedia
gadgets—and te stream digital media anywhere in
the hame. SimpleCenter 4.1 even tracks the location
of all the digital files on a home's computer network.

o A new limited-edition high gloss black ver-
sion of the award-winning NevoSL™ controller and
NevoStudio 2.0 software were introduced at the




Custermn Electrenic Design and Installation Associa-
tion [CEDIA] Expo in September 2006 — with lots of
media fanfare. NevoSL, which provides a simple and
interactive way to wirelessly access and connect
every device in the home or office, is already being
distributed in over 16 countries worldwide and has
garnered numerous industry awards, including
Residential Systerns” RES| Award for Best Handheld
Controller, the Electronic House "Product of the
Year”, and CEDIA Australia’s Best in Show.

a In September 2006, UE|l began a development
relatienship with SIRIUS Satellite Radic to create a
custom handheld media controller that will allow
SIRIUS subscribers to access the network’s 130+
channels throughout the home wirelessly as well as
control other home entertainment devices —from
up to 150 feet away. This unique and cost effec-
tive solution for SIRIUS subscribers will utilize the
Z-Wave™ protocol, a wireless radio frequency [RF]
based communications technology that is quickly
becoming the wireless standard for home centrol.

o The Company implemented key management
changes, including the hiring of Mark Kcpaskie as
Executive Vice President and General Manager,
U.S.; the promotion of Paul Bennett to Executive
Vice President and Managing Director, UEBV; and
the promotion of Bryan Hackworth to Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer from his previous posi-
tion as Chief Accounting Officer.

These gentlemen, along with the rest of the
executive management teamn, form an experienced
and skilled group capable of taking our company to
the next level of performance this year and beyond.

o UEl received the distinction of being named

to the list of the 200 Best Small Companies in
America, published in the Dctober 30, 2006 issue
of Forbes magazine. The Forbes ranking is further
validation of the success we have achieved growing
our wireless control technology business through
innovation and hard work.

o Forthe second year in a row, Universal Elec-
tronics Inc. earned another important distinction.
The Company was named to Deloitie’s prestigious

Technology Fast 50 Program for Orange County,
California, a ranking of the 50 fastest-growing
technolcgy, media, telecommunications and life sci-
ences companies in the area by Delcitte & Touche
USA LLP, one of the nation’s leading professional
services organizations. Rankings are based on the
percentage revenue growth over five years from
2007 to 2005.

We are very proud of the citations we have
received from Forbes and Deloitte & Touche as well
as the outstanding results the Cempany achieved
during the past year. Which brings me to the most
important part of this letter: recognition of everyone
on the UEI team who has made it ali possible.

To our board of directors, executive management
team, dedicated employees, worldwide partners
and shareholders, | extend my sincere appreciation.
Thank you for your continued support and for
making this past year the most successful in our
Company’s histery. Looking ahead, | can assure you
that the best is yet to come as our innovative solu-
tions continue to transform the industry. With cur
strong balance sheet, our cutstanding technology
portfolio and intellectual property, and our great
peopte, anything is possible.

Sincerely.

[

Paul Arling, Chatrman and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS~* This Annual Report, including "Management's Discussién and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Cpeda-
tions™, contains statements that may conslitute forward-looking statements within the meaning pf the Privale Securities Litigalion Reform Act of 1995. These
stalements involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, If the risks or uncertainties ever materialize or the assumpticns prove incorrect, our resulls may?nsr-
fer malerially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements and assumgtions. All statements other than statements of historical fgcl
are stalements that could be deemed lorward-looking statements, including but nol limited te any projections of revanue, margins, expenses, tax provisio Is.
earnings, cash flows, benefit obligations, share repurchases or cther financialitems; any slateménls af the plans, stralegies and objectives of management for
future operations; any statements concerning expected deveiopment or relating io produels or serbices; any statements regarding future economic conditions/or
performance: any statements regarding pending claims or disputes; any statements of expec:atidn or beliei; and any statements of assumptions underlying iny
of the foregoing. Risks. uncertainties and assumptions include macroeconomic and geopolitical thends and events; 1he execution and performance of contra

by customers, suppliers and partners; the challenge ol managing assel levels, including inventory} the diffficulty of aligning expense levels with revenue changés;
the outcome of pending legislation and accounting pronouncements; and other risks that are described herein, including but not limited ta the items discussedin
"Risk Faclors™ of this report, and that are otherwise described from time to time in our Securtiesiand Exchange Commisgsion reperts filed after the date of filing
this report. We assume no obligation and do not intend Lo update these forward-looking stalamerjis.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS FINANCIAL REVIEW —

Business

BUSINESS OF UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC,

Universal Electronics Inc. was incorporated under the laws of Delaware in 1986 and began operations in
1987. The principal executive offices are located at 6101 Gateway Drive, Cypress, California 90630. As used
herein, the terms "we”, "us” and "our” refer to Universal Electronics Inc, and its subsidiaries unless the
context indicates to the contrary.

As a result of the integration, the performance-based payment expiring and our chief aperating deci-
sion maker ["CODM"| no tonger reviewing SimpleDevices” financial statements on a siand alone hasis,
commencing in the third quarter of 2006, we merged SimpleDevices into our Core Business segment
resulting in us operaling in a single industry segment. Since acquiring SimpleDevices in Octaber 2004,
we have integrated. and in certain respects improved upon, SimpleDevices’ technalogies with and into our
own technology, resulting in the creation of new wireless control devices that will allow for media control.
Moreover, through this integration of technologies, we have improvad and expanded cur relationships with
our customers and with SimpleDevices’ customers, resulting in moreg cress-selling of products and tech-
nology. In addition, we have integrated their sales, engineering and administrative functions into our own,
resulting in both operational efficiencies and cost savings.

Additional infermation regarding UEi can be obtained at www.ugi.com,

CORE BUSINESS SEGMENT

Overview— Qur business is comprised of one reportable segment, Core Business. We have developed a
broad line of easy-te-use, pre-programmed universal wireless control products and audio-video acces-
sories that are marketed to enhance home entertainment systemns. Additionally, we develop software and
firmware solutions that can enable devices such as TVs, set-top boxes, stereos, automotive audio systems,
cell phones and other consumer electronic products to wirelessly connect and interact with home net-
works and interactive services to deliver digital entertainment and information.

Principal Markets— Qur primary markets include retail, private label, OEMs, custom installers, autormo-
bile. cellular phone, subscription broadcasting, cable and satellite service providers and companies in

the computing industry, We believe that cur universal remote control database is capable of controlling
virtually all infrared remote {"IR"] controlled TVs, VCRs, DVD players, cable converters, CD ptayers. audio
cemponents and satellite recetvers, as well as most other infrared remote controlled home entertainment
devices and home autamation control madules worldwide.

We provide subscription broadcasters, namely cable operators and satellite service providers, both
domestically and internationally, with our wireless control devices and integrated circuits, on which our
software is ermbedded, to support the demand associated with the deployment of digital set-top boxes
that contain the latest technology and features. We also sell our universal wireless control devices and
integrated circuits, on which our software is embedded, to OEMs that manufacture cable converters and
satellite receivers for resale with their products.

We continue to pursue further penetration of the more traditional consumer electronics/0OEM markets.
Customers in these markets generally package our wireless control devices for resale with their audio
and video home entertainment products. We also sell customized chips, which include our software and/or
cusiomized software packages, to these customers. Growth in this line of business has been driven by the
protiferation and increasing complexity of home entertainment equipment, emerging digital technology.
multimedia and interactive internet applications, and the number of OEMs.

UN{VERSAL ELECTRONICS 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 2]




UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS FINANCIAL REVIEW —=

We also continue to place significant emphasis on expanding our sales and marketing efforts to sub-
scription broadcasters and OEMs in Asia, Latin America and Europe. We will continue to add new sales
people to support anticipated sales growth in these markets over the next few years. In addition, we
continue to improve on our development processes to increase cost savings and to provide more timely
delivery of gur products to our custamers,

In the international retail markets, our One For All® brand name products accounted for 20.4%, 25.4%,
and 32.1% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2004, 200%, and 2004, respectively. Throughout
2004, we continued our retail sales and marketing effarts in Europe, Australia, New Zeatand, South Africa,
the Middle East, Mexico and selected countries in Asia and Latin America. Financial information relating to
our international operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is included in "Nates to
Consolidated Financial Statements-Nate 19",

By providing our wireless control technology in many farms, including finished products and micracon-
trollers on which our seftware is embedded, we can meet the needs of cur customers, enabling those who
manufacture or subcontract their manufacturing requirements to Lse existing sources of supply and more
easily incorporate our technology.

Beginning in 1986 and continuing today, we have compiled an extensive library that covers nearly
302,000 individual device functions and over 3,100 individua! censurner electronic equipment brand names.
QOur library is regularly updated with new infrared ["IR") codes used in newly introduced audic and video
devices. All such IR cedes are captured from the original manufacturer’s remote control devices or written
specifications to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the database.

Our proprietary software and know-how permit us to compress the IR codes before being loaded inta
our products. This provides significant cost and space efficiencies that enable us to include more codes
and features in the memary space of the wireless control devices than are included in the similarly priced
products of our competitors.

With taday's rapidly changing technology, upgradeability ensures an-going compatibility with current
and future devices. We have developed a patented technology that provides the capability to easily upgrade
the memory of our wireless controt devices by adding IR codes from our library that were not originally
included. These upgrade features. at no additional cast to the consumer, provide customers with the ability
to upgrade our wireless devices remotely using a persenal camputer or telephone, and directly at the fac-
tory or service locations. These upgrade options utilize one-way or two-way cammunication to upgrade the
wireless devices' codes or data depending on the requirements,

Each of our wireless control devices is designed to simplify the use of audio, video and other devices. To
appeal to the mass market, the number of buttons is minirized to include enly the most popular functions,
Our remotes are alsao designed for ease of set-up. For most of our products, the consumer simply inputs a
four-digit code for each video or audio device to be controlled. Another patented ease of use feature we offer
in several of our products is our user programmable macro key. Th s {eature allows the user to program a
sequence of commands onta a single key, to be played back each time that key s subsequently pressed.

During 2006, we continued our product innovation by launching several new designs for our Kameleon®
line based on our technology platform developed in 2002. Kameleon®, a display technology, provides ease
of use by illuminating only the keys needed to control each entertainment device. We also expanded our
line of audic and video accessories including digital antennas, signal boosters, television brackets, and
audio and video cleaning products. In October 2006, we began shipping a custom remcte designed for a
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subscription customer, utilizing the Z-Wave® wireless protocol, a wireless radio frequency [RF) based
communications technology designed for residential control. SimpleCenter 4.1 was launched in 2006.
SimpleCenter Software Application provides a PC application for the management, control, and distribu-
tion of digital media - music, pictures, and movies. This includes a media manager plus a unified platform
for connecting and synchronizing media to both home and mobile devices.

Wireless netwarking is one of today’s fastest growing trends. Combining our connectivity software and
patent portfolio with Universal Plug-n-Play ["UPnP"] standards and the B02.11 wireless networking proto-
cols, we developed our NevoSL® product line. NevoSL®, which began shipping during the second quarter
of 2005, is a stand alone universal wireless controller that uses Wi-Fi to control the play back or viewing
of MP3s, photos, and videos stered on a PC, through a media player attached 1o a home entertainment
center. By utilizing the touch screen user interface, customers can select play lists, slide shows, or videos
to be played via the media player from anywhere within the networks range. In addition, NevoSL® utilizes
infrared technology to control virtually all infrared controlled consumer electronic devices, and can also
be utilized to control wireless household appliances. NevoSL® supports the attainment of our strategic
goal to build our presence as a wireless contral technology leader, enabling consumers to wirelessly con-
nect, control, and interact within the ever-increasingty complex home. In 2006, we launched NevoStudio
2.0, a sofiware application as an update to our software suite for NevoSL®.

Methods of Distribution and Customers— Over the past 19 years, we have developed a broad portfolia
of patented technologies and the industry’s leading database of home connectivity software. We include
our technotogy in a broad family of products including universal standard and touch screen remote
controls, antennas and various audio/video accessories, as well as custom and customizable microcon-
trotlers. To a lesser exient, we also license our technology to certain customers, including leading
Fortune 500 companies.

In addition, we sell our services and license our software to 0EMs operating in the consumer electron-
ics, automobile, cellular pheone, and subscription breadcasting industries for use in their products. These
services are performed in San Mateo, California. Licenses are delivered upon the transfer of a product
master or on a per unit basis when the software is loaded onto the OEM's device.

Inthe United States, we sell our products to cable operators, satellite service providers, private label
customers, consumer electronics accessory manufacturers and companies in the computing industry for
resale under their respective brand names. In addition, we sell aur wireless control products, and to a lesser
extent, license our proprietary technologies to OEMs for use in their products. We also license our One For
All® brand name to a third party, who in turn, sells the products directly to certain domestic retailers.

Outside the United States, we sell our wireless control devices and certain accessories under the
One For All® and certain other brand names under private labels to retailers. and to other custorners,
through our international subsidiaries. Third party distributors are utilized in countries where we do not
have subsidiaries. We also sell our products and/or ticense our proprietary technology to OEMs, cable
operators and satellite service praviders internationally,

We have nine international subsidiaries, Universal Electronics B.V,, established in The Netherlands,
One Far All GmbH and Ultra Control Consumer Electronics GmbH, both established in Germany, One for
All Iberia 5.L., established in Spain, One For Alt UK Ltd., established in the United Kingdom, One For All
Argentina 5.R.L., established in Argentina, One For Atl France S.A.S., established in France, Universal
Electronics ltalia 5.R.L., established in lialy, and UE Singapore Pte. Ltd.. established in Singapare. UE
Singapore Pte. Ltd. was established in Fébruary 2007.
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For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2095 and 2004, our sales to Comeast Communications, Inc.,
represented 12.0%, 12.2% and 11.0% of our net sales, respectively. No other single customer accounted for
10% or more of our net sales in 2006, 2005 or 2004, However, DirecTV and its subcontractors collectively
accounted for 17.7%, 16.6% and 10.4% of our net sales for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

We provide domestic and internatianal consumer support to our various universal remote control
marketers, including manufacturers, catble and satellite providers, retail distributors, and audio and video
ariginal equipment manufacturers through our gutomated "InterVoice” system. Live agent help is also
available through certain pregrams. In 2006, we introduced a free web-based support resource, urcsup-
port.com, designed specifically for cable subscribers. This solution offers interactive anline demos and
tutorials to help users easity setup their remote and commands, and as a resuit reduces call volume
at cusiomer support ceniers, Additionally, ActiveSupport®, a call center, provides customer interaction
management services from service and support to retention, Pre-repair calls, post-install surveys, and
inbound calls to customers provide greater bottom-Lline efficiencies. We continue to review our programs
te determine their value in enhancing and improving the sates of our products. As a result of this continued
review, some or all of these programs may be modified or discontinued in the future and new programs
may be added.

RAW MATERIALS AND DEPENDGENCE ON SUPPLIERS

We utilize third-party manufacturers and suppliers primarily in Asia to produce our wireless control
products. In 2004, Computime, C.G. Develapment, Freescale and Jetta collectively provided 60.9% of our
total inventory purchases. In 2005, Computime provided 33.9% af our total inventary purchases. In 2004,
Computime and Samsung collectively provided 38.7% of our total inventory purchases.

As in the past, we continue to evaluate alternative and additional third-party manufacturers and
sources of supply. During 2006, we continued ta diversify our suppliers and maintain duplicate tooling for
certain of our products. This has allowed us to stabilize our source for preducts and negotiate more favor-
able terms with our suppliers. In addition, where we can, we use standard parts and componenis, which
are available from multiple sources. To continue to reduce our dependence on suppliers, we continue to
seek additional sources of integrated circuit chips to help reduce the patential for manufacturing and ship-
ping delays. In addition, we have included flash microcontroller technology in some of our products. Ftash
microcontrolters can have shorter lead times than standard microcontrollers and may be reprogrammed
if necessary, thus potentially reducing excess or obsolete inventory exposure.

PATENTS, TRADEMARKS AND COPYRIGHTS

We own a number of United States and foreign patents related to our products and technology, and have
filed domestic and foreign applications for other patents that are pending. We had a totat of 173 issued and
pending patents at the end of 2006, an increase from 156 at the end of 2005. Qur patents have remaining
lives ranging from approximately one to eighteen years. We have also obtained copyright registration and
claim copyright protection for certain of our proprietary software and libraries of IR codes. Additionally,
the names af most of our products are registered or are being registered as trademarks in the United
States Patent and Trademark Office and in most of the other countries in which such products are sold.
These regisirations are valid for a variety of terms ranging up to 20 years and may be renewed as long as
the trademarks continue to be used and are deemed by management to be important to our operations,
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White we follow the practice of obtaining patent, copyright and trademark registrations on new develop-
ments whenever advisable, in certain cases, we have elected common law trade secret protection in lieu
of obtaining such other protection.

SEASONALITY

Historically, cur business has been influgnced by the retail sales cycle, with increased sales in the last hali
of the year and the largest proportion of sales occurring in the last quarter. This pattern is expected to con-
tinue and the impact will fluctuate as the sales mix varies between the consumer and business categories.

See “Netes to Consolidated Financial Statements-Note 23" for further details regarding our quarterly
results,

COMPETITION

Our principal competiters in the international retail and private label markets for our wireless controls
include Philips, Thomson, and Sony as well as various manufacturers of wireless controls in Asia. Our pri-
mary competitors in the OEM market are the original equipment manufacturers themselves and wireless
control manufacturers in Asia, NevoSL® product, which was released in the second quarter of 2005, com-
petes in the custom electronics installation market against AMX, RTI, Universal Remote Control, Philips,
Logitec, and many others. We compete in our markets on the basis of product quality, preduct features,
price, intellectual property, and custamer and consumer support. We believe that we will need to continue
to introduce new and innovative producis and to remain competitive and to recruit and retain competent
personnel to successfully accomplish our future ohbjectives. Certain of our competitors have significantly
larger financial, technical, marketing and manufacturing resources than we do, and there can be no as-
surance that we will remain competitive in the future.

ENGINEERING, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

During 2006, our engineering efforts {focused on modifying existing products and technologies to improve
features, to lower costs, and 10 develop measures to protect our proprietary technology and general know-
how. In addition, we continue to regularly update our library of IR codes to include IR codes for new features
and devices introduced worldwide. We also continue to explare ways to improve our software to pre-pro-
gram more codes into our memory chips and to simplify the upgrading of our wireless control products.

Also during 2006, our product devetopment efforts continued to focus on new and innovative wireless
control and interface solutions resulting in the launch of new retail stock keeping units ("SKUs"] based on
the Kameleon® interface technology. We also broadened our product portfolio with solutions that address
emerging technology sectors like home media distribution and home automation. These advanced tech-
nology development effarts focused on both industry-based standards as well as specific universal exten-
sions that maximize the end user experience utilizing a set of heterogeneous protecols and technologies
that exist in the modern home today. This environment is driving the need for simplification of these new
protocols and devices, since they were originally engineered and targeted towards the enterprise custom-
er, We created the Nevo® praduct offerings to simplify and manage the end user’s experience interacting
with devices in the home — devices that may be used for a decade or more, including traditional IR based
devices, and the more complex TCP/IP consumer electronic devices utilizing both open and proprietary
protocols. During 2006 we atso focused on devetoping and marketing additional products that are based
on the Zighee, Z-Wave® and other radic frequency technology.
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We also developed technologies aimed at unifying traditional technologies that are encountered within
a home, and emerging technologies. This allows consumers to deploy our solutions ranging from a simple
IR based audio-visual stack to a modern digital media management experience allowing access to digital
content such as music, pictures and videos.

Our personnet are invelved with varicus industry organizations and badies, which are in the process of
setting standards for infrared, radio frequency, power line, telephone and cable communications and net-
warking in the home, There can be no assurance that any of our research and development projects will be
successfully completed.

Our expenditures on engtneering, research and development were:

IN MILLIONS 2006 2005 2004
Research and Development s 7.4 $ 6.6 $ 5.9
Engineering 4.6 5.1 33
Total Engineering, Research and Development s 12.0 $ 1.7 s 9.2

" Engineering costs are included in SG&A.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Many of our products are subject to various federal, state, local and international laws governing chemical
substances in products, including laws regulating the manufacture and distribution of chemical sub-
stances and laws restricting the presence of certain substances in electronics products. We could incur
substantial costs, including cleanup costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, third-party damage or
personal injury claims, if we were to violate or become liable under environmental laws or if our prod-
ucts become non-compliant with environmental laws. We also face increasing complexity in our product
design and procurement operations as we adjust to new and future requirements relating to the materials
composition of our preducts, including the restrictions on lead, cadmium and certain other substances
that will apply to specified electronics products put on the market in the European Union as of July 1, 2006
[Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive] and the restrictions to be imposed by similar legislation in
China, the labeling provisions of which went into effect March 1, 2007.

We also could face significant costs and liabilities in connection with product take-back legislation. The
European Union [the "EU”) has enacted the Waste Electrical and Elecironic Equipment Directive, which
makes producers of electrical goods, including computers and printers, financially responsible for speci-
fied collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of past and future covered products. The deadline for the
individual member states of the EU to enact the directive in their respactive countries was August 13, 2004
(such legistation, together with the directive, the "WEEE Legislation”], although extensions were granted
in some couniries. Producers participating in the market became financially respansible for implementing
their responsibilities under the WEEE Legislation beginning in August 2003. Requirements for implemen-
tation in certain EU member states have been delayed into 2007. Similar legislation has been or may be
enacted in other jurisdictions, including in the United States, Canada, Mexico, China, and Japan.

We continue to work closely with our contract manufacturing base to move these manufacturers
toward becoming Sony Green Partners and we already work with several certified Green Partners. Our
goal is to provide a choice of three options to our customers: Sony Green compliant, Restriction of Hazard-
ous Substances Directive compliant, and Non-Green. All Green production processes will be segregated
physically from standard production processes to eliminate the possibility of contamination.
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We believe that we have materially complied with all currently existing international and domestic fed-
eral, state and local statutes and regulations regarding environmental standards and occupational safety
and health matters to which we are subject. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
the amounts incurred in complying with federal, state and local statutes and regulations pertaining to
envirenmental standards and occupational safety and health laws and regulations did not materially affect
our earnings or financial condition. However, future events, such as changes in existing laws and regula-
tions or enforcement policies, may give rise to additional compliance costis that could have a material
adverse effect upon our capital expenditures, earnings or financial condition.

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2006, we employed 392 employees, of whom 116 work in engineering and research and
development, 47 in sales and marketing, 98 in consumer service and suppert, 39 in operations and ware-
housing and 72 are executive and administrative staff. None of our employees are subject to a collective
bargaining agreement or represented by a union. We consider our employee relations to be good.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS
Financial information relating to our international operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 is included in "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-Note 197

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our Internet address is www.uei.com. We make available free of charge through the website our an-

nual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to these reports as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file such reports
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These reports can be found on our website at www.uei.com
under the caption “SEC Filings™ on the Investor page. Investors can also obtain copies of our SEC filings
from the SEC website at www.sec.gov.

Risk Factors

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

We caution that the following impartant factors, among others lincluding but not limited to factors
discussed below in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions,” as well as those factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report, or in our other reports filed
from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission), could affect our actual results and could
contribute to or cause our actual consolidated results to differ materially from those expressed in any of
our forward-looking statements. The factors included here are not exhaustive. Further, any forward-look-
ing statement speaks only as of the date an which such statement is made, and we undertake no obligation
to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such
statemnent is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to
time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can we assess the impact of
each such factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause
actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Therefore,
forward-looking statements should not be retied upon as a prediction of actual future results.

While we betieve that the forward looking statements made in this report are based on reasonable
assumptions, the actual outcome of such statements is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties,
including the failure of our markets te continue growing and expanding in the manner we anticipated;
the failure of cur customers to grow and expand as we anticipated; the effects of natural or other events
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beyond our controt, including the effect a war or terrorist activities may have on us or the econamy; the
economic environment’s effect on us or cur customers; the growth of, acceptance of and the demand for
our products and technologies in various markets and geographical regions, including cable, satellite,
consumer electronics, retail, digital media/technology, CEDIA, interactive TV, automative, and cellular
industries not materializing or growing as we believed; our inability to add profitable complementary prod-
ucts which are accepted by the marketplace; our inability to continue to maintain our operating costs at ac-
ceptable levels through our cost containment efforts; our inability to realize tax benefits from various tax
projects initiated from time to time; our inability to maintain the strength of our balarce sheet; our inability
to continue setling our preducts or licensing our technologies at higher or profitable margins; our inability
to obtain orders or maintain cur order volume with new and existing customers; the possible dilutive effect
our stock option program may have cn cur earnings per share and stoeck price; our inability to continue to
obtain adequate quantities of component parts or secure adequate factory production capacity on a timely
basis; and other factors listed fram time to time in our press releases and filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Dependence upon Key Suppliers-» Mast of the components used in our products are available from mul-
tiple sources. However, we have elected to purchase integrated circuits, used principally in our wireless
control products, from two main sources, Freescate and Samsung.

During 2006, four sources, Computime, C.G. Development, Freescale and Jetta, each provided over ten
percent [10%] of cur total inventory purchases. Purchases from these suppliers collectively amounied to
$82.6 million, or 60.9%, of total inventory purchases during 2006. Purchases with the same supptiers col-
lectively amounted to $57.3 million and $41.6 million, representing %4.8% and 45.9%, of total inventory pur-
chases in 2005 and 2004, respectively. In 2004, we had an additional supplier who provided over 10% of our
inventory purchases. This supplier pravided $9.5 million or 10.5% of our total inventary purchases in 2004.

We have identified alternative sources of supply for these integrated circuits, compenents, and finished
goods; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain these inventory pur-
chases on a timely basis. We generally maintain inventories of aur integrated chips, which could be used
in part to mitigate, but not eliminate, delays resutting from supply irterruptions. An extended interruption,
shortage or termination in the supply of any of the components used in our producis, or a reduction in their
quality or retiability, or a significant increase in prices of components, would have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and cash flows.

Dependence on Foreign Manufacturing-# Third-party manufacturers located in Asia manufacture a ma-
jority of our products. Our arrangements with our foreign manufacturers are subject to the risks of doing
business abroad, such as tariffs, environmental and trade restricticns, intellectual property protection
and enforcement, export license requirements, work stoppages, political and sociat instability, economic
and labor conditions, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, and other factors, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows. We beliave that the loss of
any one or more of our manufacturers would not have a long-term rnaterial adverse effect on our busi-
ness, results of operations and cash flows, because numerous other manufacturers are available to fulfitl
our requirements; however, the loss of any of our major manufacturers could adversazly affect our busi-
ness until alternative manufacturing arrangements are securec.
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Potential Fluctuations in Quarterly Results-+ Historically, our business has been influenced by the retail
sales cycle, with increased sales in the last half of the year and the largest proportion of sales occurring
in the last quarter. Factors such as quarterly variations in financial results could have a material adverse
affect on the volatility and market price of our common stock.

We may from time to time increase our operaling expenses to fund greater levels of research and de-
velopment, sales and marketing activities, development of new distribution channels, improvements in our
operationat and financial systems and development of our customer support capabilities, and te support
our efforts to comply with various government regulations. To the extent such expenses precede or are
not subseguently followed by increased revenues, our business, operating results, financial condition and
cash flows will be adversely affected.

in addition, we may experience significant fluctuations in future quarterly operating results that may be
caused by many other facters, including demand for our products, introduction or enhancement of prod-
ucts by us and cur competitors, the loss or acquisition of any significant customers, market acceptance of
new products, price reductions by us or pur competitors, mix of distribution channels through which our
praducts are sold, product or supply constraints, {evel of product returns, mix of customers and products
sold, component pricing, mix of international and demestic revenues, foreign currency exchange rate fluc-
tuations and general economic conditions. In addition, as a strategic response to changes in the competi-
tive enviranment, we may from time to time make certain pricing or marketing decisions or acquisitions
that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. As a
result, we believe period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily meaning-
ful and should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance.

Due to all of the faregoing factors, it is possible that in some future quarters our aperating results will
be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. If this happens the price of our common
stock may be materially adversety affected.

Dependence on Consumer Preference~+ We have continually pravided domestic and international con-
sumer service and support to our customers to add overall value and to help differentiate us from our
competitors. We continually review our service and support group and are marketing our expertise in this
area to ather potential customers. There can be ne assurance that we will be able to attract new custom-
ers in the future,

In addition, Our Kameleon® and Mevo® line of products have mare features and are more complex than
our older products and therefore require more end-user technical suppart. For our Nevo® product line, we
currently refy on the distributor or dealers to provide the initial level of technical support to the end-users.
We provide the second level of technical support for bug fixes and other issues at no additional charge.
Therefore, as the mix of our products includes Nevo® and other more complex product lines, support costs
could increase, which would have an adverse effect on aur financial condition and results of operations.

Dependence Upan Timely Product Introduction-+ Our ability to remain competitive in the wireless control
and audiofvideo accessory products market will depend considerably upon our ability to successfully iden-
tify new product opporiunities, as well as developing and introducing these products and enhancements
on a timely and cost effective basis. There can be no assurance that we will be successful at developing
and marketing new products or enhancing our existing products, or that these new or enhanced products
will achieve consumer acceptance and. if achieved, will sustain that acceptance. In addition, there can be
no assurance that products developed by others will not render our products non-competitive or absolete
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or that we will be able 1o obtain or maintain the rights to use proprietary technologies developed by athers
which are incorporated in our products. Any failure to anticipate or respaond adequately to technological
developments and customer requirements, or any significant delays in product development or introduc-
tion, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, the introduction of new products may require significant expenditures for research and
development, tooking, manufacturing processes, inventory and marketing. In order to achieve high volume
production of any new product, we may have to make substantial investments in inventory and expand our
production capabilities.

Dependence on Major Customers— The economic strength and weakness of our worldwide customers af-
fect our performance. We sell our wireless control products, audic/video accessory products, and propri-
etary technologies to private label customers, original equipment manufacturers, and companies involved
in the subscription broadcasting industry. We also supply our products to our wholly owned, non-U.S.
subsidiaries and to independent foreign distributors, wha in turn distribute our products worldwide, with
Europe. Asia, South Africa, Australia, and Argentina currently representing our principal foreign markets.

In each of tha years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we had sales to one customer, Comcast,
that amounted to more than 10% of our net sales far the year. In addition, in each of these years, we had
sales to DirecTV and its sub-contractors, that when combined, exceeded 10% of our net sales. The loss of
either of these customers or of any other key customer, either in the United States or abroad or our inabil-
ity to maintain order volume with these customers, may have an adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Internal Investments— We employ a small number of persannel ta cevelop and market additional products
that are part of the Nevo® platform as well as praducts that are based on the Zigbee, Z-Wave® and other
radio frequency tachnology. Even after these hires, we continue to use outside resources to assist us in the
development of these products. While we believe that such putside services should continue to be available
to us, if they cease to be available, the development of these products could be substantially delayed.

Competition—+ The wireless control industry is characterized by intense competition based primarily on
product availability, price. speed of delivery, ability to tailor specific solutions to customer needs, quality,
and depth of product lines. Qur competition is fragmented across our products, and, accardingly, we do
not compete with any one company across all product lines. We comrpete with a variely of entities, some of
which have greater financial resources. Our ability to remain competitive in this industry depends in part
on our ability to successfully identify new product opportunities, develop and introduce new products and
enhancements on a timely and cost effective basis, as well as our atility to successfully identify and enter
into strategic alliances with entities doing business within the industries we serve. There can be no assur-
ance that our product offerings will be, and/or remain, competitive cr that strategic atliances, if any, will
achieve the type, extent, and amount of success or business that we expect them {o achieve. The sales of
our products and techﬁo{ogy may not occur or grow in the manner we expect, and thus we may not recoup
costs incurred in the research and develepment of these products as quickly as we expect, if at all,

Patents, Trademarks, and Copyrights-» The procedures by which we identify, decument and file for patent,
trademark, and copyright protection are based solely on engineering and management judgment, with no
assurance that a specific filing will be issued, ar if issued, will deliver any lasting value to us. Because of
the rapid innovation of products and technologies that is characterictic of our industry, there is no assur-
ance that rights granted under any patent will provide competitive advantages to us or will be adequate
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to safeguard and maintain our proprietary rights. Moreover, the laws of certain countries in which our
products are or may be manufactured or sold may not offer protection on such products and associated
intellectual property to the same extent that the U.S. legal system may offer.

in our opinion. our intellectual property holdings as well as our engineering. production, and marketing
skills and the experience of our personnel are of equal importance to our market position. We further be-
lieve that none of our businesses are materially dependent upen any single patent, copyright, trademark,
or trade secret.

Some of our products include or use technolegy and/er components of third parties. While it may be
necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of such products, we helieve
that, based upon past experience and industry practice, such licenses generally could be obtained on
commercially reasonable terms; however, there is no guarantee that such licenses could be obtained on
such terms or at all. Because of technological changes in the wireless and home control industry, current
extensive patent coverage. and the rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is possible certain components
of our products and business methods may unknowingly infringe upon the patents of others.

Potential for Litigation— As is typical in our industry and for the nature and kind of business in which we
are engaged, from time to time various ctaims, charges and litigation are asserted or commenced by third
parties against us or by us against third parties, arising from or related to product liability, infringement
of patent or other intellectual property rights, breach of warranty, contractual relations or employee rela-
tions. The amounts claimed may be substantial, but they may not bear any reasonable relationship to the
merits of the claims or the extent of any real risk of court awards assessed against us or in our favor.

Risks of Conducting Business Internatianaily-+ Risks of doing business internationally could adversely af-
fect our sales, operations, earnings and cash flows due to a variety of factors, including, but not timited to:

« changes in a country’s or region’s ecanomic or political conditions, including inflation, recession, interest
rate fluctuations and actual or anticipated military conflicts:

« currency fluctuations affecting sales, particularly in the Euro and British Pound, which centribute to
variations in sales of products and services in impacted jurisdictions and also affect our reported results
expressed in U.5. dollars;

» currency fluctuations affecting casts, particularly the Euro, Brilish Pound and the Chinese Yuan, which
coniribute to variances in costs in impacted jurisdictions and also affect our reported results expressed
in U.S. dollars;

« longer accounts receivable cyctes and financial instability among customers;

» trade regulations and procedures and actions affecting production, pricing and marketing of products;
» locat labor conditions, customs, and regulations;

» changes in the reguiatory or legal environment;

« differing technology standards or customer requirements;

= import, export or other business licensing requirements or requirements related to making foreign
direct investments, which could affect our ability to obtain favorable terms for components or lead to
penalties or restrictions;
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« difficublies associated with repatristing cash generated or hetd abroad in a tax-efficient manner and
changes in tax taws;

» fluctuations in freight costs and disruptions at important geographic points of exit and entry.

Effectiveness of Qur Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting— Pursuant to Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to include in our Annual Report on Form 10-K our assess-
ment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial repo-ting. Furthermore, our independent
registered public accounting firm is required to audit our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting and separately report on whether it believes we maintain, in all material
respects, effective internal controls over financial reporting. Although we believe that we currently have
adequate internal controls procedures in place, we cannot be certain that future material changes to our
internal controls over financial reporting will be effective, If we cannat adequately maintain the efiective-
ness of our internal controls over financial reporting, we might be subject to sanctions or investigation by
requlatory authorities, such as the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any such action could adversely
affect our financial results and the market price of our common stocx.

Changes in Accounting Rules-» Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.5. generally
accepted accounting principles. These principles are subject to interoretation by various governing bodies,
including the FASB and the SEC, who create and interpret appropriate accounting standards. A change
from current accounting standards ceuld have a significant adverse effect on our results of operations.

Unanticipated Changes in Tax Provisions or Income Tax Liabilities—-+ We are subject toc income taxes in
the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Our tax liabitities are affected by the amounts we
charge for inventory and other items in intercompany transacticns. From time to time, we are subject to
tax audits in various jurisdictions. Tax authorities may disagree with our intercompany charges or other
matters and assess additional taxes. We assess the likely outcomes of these audits in arder to determine
the appropriateness of the tax provision, However, there ¢an be no assurance that we will accurately pre-
dict the outcomes of these audits, and the actual outcomes of these audits could have a material impact on
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. in addition our effective tax rate in the future
could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax
rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabitities, changes in tax laws and the discovery
of new information in the course of our tax return preparation process. Furthermore, our tax provisions
could be adversely affected as a result of any new interpretative accounting guidance related to accounting
for uncertain tax positions.

General Economic Conditions— General economic conditions, both domestic and international, have an
impact on our business and financial results. The global economy rernains uncertain. As a result, individu-
als and companies may delay or reduce expenditures. Weak global econamic conditions and/or softness

in the consumer, subscription broadcasting, and/or GEM channels could result in lower demand for our
products, resulting in lower sales, earnings and cash flaws.

Environmental Matters— Many of our products are subject to various federat, siate, local and interna-
tional laws governing chemical substances in products, including laws requlating the manufacture and
distribution of chemical substances and laws restricting the presence of certain substances in electron-
ics products. With the passage of the European Union's Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive,
which makes producers of electrical goods responsible for collection, recycling, treatment and disposal
of recovered products, similar restrictions in China effective March 2307 and the European Union's Waste
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Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive, we could face significant costs and liabilities in complying
with these and new laws and regulations or enforcement policies that could have a material adverse effect
upon our capital expenditures, earnings or financial condition.

Leased Property-» We lease all of the properties used in our business. We can give no assurance that we
will enter into new or renewal leases, or that. if entered into, the new lease terms will be similar to the
existing terms or that the terms of any such new or renewal leases will not have a significant and material
adverse effect on our financial condition, resulis of operations and cash flows.

Technology Changes in Wireless Control-+ We currently derive substantial revenue from the sale of
wireless remote controls based on infrared {"IR”] technolegy. Other control technologies exist ar could be
developed that could compete with [R. In addition, we develop and maintain our own database of IR and RF
codes. There are several competing IR and RF libraries offered by companies that we compete with in the
marketplace. The advantage that we may have compared to our competitors is difficult to measure. if other
wireless control technology gains acceptance and starts to be integrated into home electronics devices
currently controlled through our IR remote controllers, demand for our products may decrease, resulting
in decreased revenue, earnings and cash flow.

Failure to Recruit, Hire, and Retain Key Personnel-+ Our ability to achieve growth in the future will
depend, in part, on our success at recruiting, hiring, and retaining highly skilled engineering, managerial,
operational, sales, and marketing personnel. In addition, our corporate cffice, including our advance tech-
nology engineering group, is based in Southern California. The high cost of Living in Southern Califernia
makes it difficult to attract talent from outside the region and may also put pressure on overall employ-
ment related expense. Additicnally, our competitors seek to recruit and hire the same key persennel.
Therefore, if we fail to stay competitive in salary and benefits within the industry it may negatively impact
our ability to hire and retain key personnel. The inability to recruit, hire, and retain qualified personnelin
a timely manner. or the loss of any key personnel, could make it difficult te meet key cbjectives, such as
timely and effective product introductions.

Credit Facility— We amended our Credit Facility in August 2006 by extending our credit facility for an ad-
ditional three years. Presently, we have no barrowings under this {acility; however, we cannot make any
assurances that we will not need to borrow amounts under this facility or that this facility will continue to
be extended and thus available to us if we need to borrow. If this or any other credit facility is not available
to us at a time when we need to borrow, we would have to use our cash reserves which coutd have a mate-
rial adverse effect on our earnings, cash flow and financial position,

Change in Competition and Pricing— We rely on third-party manufacturers to build our universal wireless
control products, based on our extensive IR code library and patented technology. Price is always an issue
in winning and retaining business. If customers become increasingly price sensitive, new competition
could arise from manufacturers who decide to go into direct competition with us or from current com-
petitors who perform their own manufacturing. If such a trend develops, we could experience downward
pressure on our pricing or lose sales, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.

Transportation Costs; Impact of Oil Prices— We ship products from our foreign manufacturers via ocean
and air transport. It is sometimes difficult to forecast swings in demand or delays in production and. as

a result, products may be shipped via air which is more cosily than ocean shipments. Often, we typically
cannot recover the increased cost of airfreight from our customers. Additionally, tariffs and other export
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fees may be incurred to ship products from foreign manufacturers to the customer. The inability to predict
swings in demand or delays in producticn can increase the cost of freight which could have a material
adverse effect on our product margins.

In addition, we have an exposure to oil prices in two forms. The fi~st is in the prices of the oil-based ma-
terials that we use in our products, which are prismarily the plastics and other components that we include
in our finished products. The second is in the cost of delivery and freight, which would be passed on by the
carriers that we use in the form of higher rates. We record freight-in as a cost of sales, and freight-out in
operating expenses. Rising oil prices may have an adverse effect on cost of sates and operating expenses.

Proprietary Technologies-+ We produce highly complex products that incorporate leading-edge technol-
ogy, including hardware, firmware, and software. Firmware and software may contain bugs that can un-
expectedly interfere with operations. There can be no assurance that our testing programs witl detect alt
defects in individual products or defects that could affect numerous shipments. The presence of defects
may harm customer satisfaction, reduce sales opportunities, or increase returns. An inability to cure or
repair a product defect could result in the failure of a product line, temparary or permanent withdrawal
from a product or market, damage to our reputation, increased inventory costs, or product reengineering
expenses, any of which could have a material impact on our revenues, margins and net income,

Strategic Business Transactions— We may, from time to time, pursue strategic alliances, joint ventures,
business acquisitions, products or technologies ["strategic business transactions”) that complement

or expand our existing operations, including those that could be material in size and scope. Strategic
business transactions involve many risks, including the diversion of management’s altention away from
day-to-day operations. There is also the risk that we will not be able to successfully integrate the strate-
gic business transactian with our operations, personnel, customer base, products or technologies. Such
strategic business transactions could atso have adverse short-term effects on our operating results, and
could result in dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of debt, and the loss of key employ-
ees. In addition, these strategic business transactions are generally subject to specific accounting guide-
lines that may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. For instance,
business acquisitions must be accounted for as purchases and, because most technology-related acquisi-
tions involve the purchase of significant intangible assets, these acquisitions typically result in substantial
amortization charges and charges for acquired research and development projects, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations. There can be no assurance that any such strategic
business transactions will occur or, if such transactions do occur, that the integration will be successful or
that the customer bases, products or technologies will generate sufficient revenue ta offset the associated
costs or effects.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected historicat consolidated financial information as of December 31, 2006 and Decern-
ber 31, 2005, and for each of the three years ended December 31, 2004 have been derived from and should
be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto inctuded else-
where in this report. The selected histerical consolidated financial infarmation as of December 31, 2004,
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and for the two years ended December 31, 2003 have been
derived from our audited financial statements, which are not included in this report.

YEAR EMOED DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Net sales $ 235846 % 181,349 § 158,380 % 120,468 % 103,891
Operating income $ 18,517 $ 1,677 $ 13,540 $ 8,573 s 6,981
Netincome $ 13,520 $ S,701 5 9,114 $ 6,267 $ 5,939
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.98 $ 0.72 $ 0.67 $ 0.46 $ 0.43
Diluted s 0.94 $ 0.69 ] 0.65 $ 0.45 M 0.42

Shares used in catcutating
earnings per share:

Basic 13,818 13,462 13,567 13,703 13,790
Diluted 14,432 13,892 14,100 14,007 14,163

Cash dividend declared per
cornrmon share - - - - -

Gross margin 36.4% 37.0% 38.9% 38.4% 40.1%

Selling, general, administrative.
research and development

expenses as a % of net sales 28.5% 30.6% 30.3% 31.3% 33.4%
Operating margin 7.9% 6.4% 8.6% 7.1% 6.7%
Net income as a % of net sales 5.7% 5.4% 5.8% 5.2% 5.7%
Return on average assets 8.3% 6.8% 6.8% 5.5% 6.1%
Working capital - $ 106,179 $ 77,201 $ 75,081 $ 82,19 s 71,457
Ratio of current assets to

current liabilities 34 2.8 341 3.7 5.3
Total assets $ 178,608 $ 146,319 $ 140,400 $ 128,167 $ 100,016
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,075 $ 43,641 $ 42,472 $ 58,481 $ 18,064
Short-term investments - - - - $ 22,500
Long-term debt - - - - % 41
Stockholders’ equity $ 134,277 $ 103,292 $ 103,831 $ 95,171 $ 83,237
Book value per share ! 5 9.58 § 7.63 $ 766 % 689 § 6.17
Ratio of liabilities to liabilities

and stockholders’ equity . 24.9% 25.4% 26.0% 24.6% 16.8%

W Book value per share ts defined as stockholders’ #quity divided by commaon shares issued, less treasury stock

The comparability of information between 2005 and 2004 with prior years is affected by the acquisition of
SimpleDevices Inc. in the fourth quarter of 2004.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

We have developed a broad line of pre-programmed universal wire.ess control products and audio-video
accessories that are markeled to enhance home entertainment systems. Our channels of distribution
include international retail, U.S. retail, private label, OEMs, cable and satellite service providers, CEDIA,
and companies in the computing industry, We believe that our universal remote control daiabase contains
device codes that are capable of controlling virtually all infrared remote ["IR7) controtled TVs, VCRs, BVD
players, cable canverters, CD players, audio compaonents and satellite receivers, as well as most other
infrared remote controlled devices worldwide.

Beginning in 1986 and continuing today, we have compiled an extensive library that covers nearly
302,000 individual device functions and over 3,100 individual consurner electronic equipment brand names.
Our library is regularly updated with new IR codes used in newly introduced video and audic devices. All
such IR cedes are captured from the original manufacturer’'s remote contral devices or manufacturer’s
specifications to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the database. We have also developed patented tech-
nologies that provide the capability to easily upgrade the memory of the wireless control device by adding
IR codes from the library that were not originally included. In the second quarier of 2005, we introduced a
new product named "NevoSL™®. NevoSL® is a universal contreller that delivers complete audio, visual and
Wi-Fi digital media control for the neiworked home, In 2006, we continued to enhance our product lines by
introducing NevoStudic 2.0, an update to our software suite for NevoSL®,

From October 1, 2004 through December 31, 2004, we acquired aver 99% of the autstanding shares of
SimpleDevices, Inc. ["SimpleBevices’] for approximately $12.8 million in cash, including direct acquisition
costs, plus a performance-based payment of our unregistered common stock to be paid in the first quarter
of 2007 if certain financial objectives were achieved. The performance-based payment was not reflected as
part of the pl)urchase price as of December 31, 2006, since the performance metrics were not met.

The value we received from this acquisition relates primarily to SimpleDevices’ unique capabilities, as
well as its complete and in-process technology. SimpleDevices has developed connected-device technol-
ogy solutions that link the heme computer and the Internet to existing consumer elecironic devices in the
home and car. The company provides UPnP-compatible software to transform common home devices into
“connected” devices — that is, devices that can find, contrel and share entertainment media acress a home
network, UPnP is an architecture for pervasive peer-to-peer netwerk connectivity of intelligent appli-
ances, wireless devices and PCs of all form factors. It is designed to hring standards-based connectivity to
ad hoc or unmanaged networks, whether in the home, in a small business, in public spaces or attached to
the Internet. UPnP is a distributed, open networking architecture that leverages TCP/IP and Web technolo-
gies to enable seamless proximity networking in addition to control and data transfer among netwarked
devices in the home, office and public spaces.

Since acquiring SimpleDevices, we have integrated, and in certain respects improved upon, SimpleDev-
ices’ technologies with and into our own technology, resulting in the creation of new wireless control devic-
es that will allow for media control. Moreaver, through this integration of technologies, we have improved
and expanded our relationships with our customers and with SimpleDevices’ customers, resulting in more
cross-selling of products and technology. In addition, we have integrated SimpleDevices’ sales, engineer-
ing and administrative functions inte our own, resulting in both operational efficiencies and cost savings.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparaticn of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us lo make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an on-going
basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, allowance
for sales returns and doubtful accounts, warranties, inventory valuation, business combination purchase
price allocations, our review for impairment of long-lived assets and intangible assets, impairment of
goodwill, income taxes and stock-based compensation expense. Actual results may differ fram the esti-
mates, and these estimates may be adjusted as more information becomes available and any adjustment
could be significant.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based an
assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, if different esti-
mates reasonably could have been used, or if changes in the estimate that are reasonably likely to eccur
could materially impact the financial statements. Management beligves the following critical accounting
policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue recognition— We recognize revenue on the sale of products when delivery has occurred, there
is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured.

We record a provision for estimated sales returns on product sales in the same period as the related
revenues are recorded. These estimates are based on historical sales returns, analysis of credit memo
data and other known facters. The provision recorded for estimated sales returns and allowances is de-
ducted from gross sales to arrive at net sales in the period the related revenue is recorded.

We accrue for discounts and rebates on product sales in the same period as the related revenues are
recorded based on historical experience. Changes in such accruals may be required if future rebates and
incentives differ from our estimates. Rebates and incentives are recognized as a reduction of sates if dis-
tributed in cash or customer account credits. Rebates and incentives are recognized as cost of sales if we
provide products or services for payment.

Sales allowances reduce gross accounts receivable to arrive at accounts receivable, net in the same
period the related receivable is recorded. We have no obligations after delivery of our preducts other than
the associated warranties. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resutting
from the inability of cur customers to make payments for products sold or services rendered. The allow-
ance for doubtful accounts is based on a variety of factors, including historical experience, length of time
receivables are past due, current economic trends and changes in customer payment behavior. Alsa, we
record specific provisions for individuat accounts when we become aware of a customer’s inability to meet
its financial obligations te us, such as in the case of bankrupicy filings or deterioration in the customer’s
operating results or financial position. If circumsiances related to a customer change, our estimates of the
recoverability of the receivables would be further adjusted, either upward or downward.

We generate service revenue, which is paid monthly, as a result of providing consumer support pro-
grams to some of our customers through our call centers. These service revenues are recognized when
services are performed, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales price is fixed or deter-
minable, and collectibility is reasanably assured.
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We also license our intellectual property lincluding our patented technologies), trade secrets, trade-
marks, and database of infrared codes. We record license revenue when our customers ship products
incorporating our intetlectual property, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exist, the sales price is
fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elements, such as software products, licenses and/or
services, we allocate revenue to each element based on its relative fair value, The fair values for the
multiple elements are determined based on vendor specific objective evidence ["VSOE”], or the price
charged when the element is sold separately. The residual methad is utilized when VSOE exists for all the
undelivered elements, but not for the delivered element. This is performed by allocating revenue to the
undelivered elements [that have VSGE] and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. When the fair
value for an undelivered element cannot be determined, we defer revenue for the delivered elements until
the undelivered elements are delivered. We limit the amount of revenue recognition for delivered elements
to the amount that is not contingent on the future delivery of products or services or subject to custemer-
specified return ar refund privileges.

We account for revenue under software licensing arrangements involving significant production, modi-
fication or customization of software in accordance with SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construc-
tion-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts. We recognize revenue and prafit as work progresses on
long-term, fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method. When applying the percent-
age-of-completion method, we rely on estimates of total expected centract revenue and labor hours which
are provided by our project managers. We follow this method because reasonably dependable estimates
of the revenue and labor applicable to various stages of a contract zan be made. Recognized revenue and
profit are subject to revisions as the contract progresses to completion. Revisions to revenue and profit
estimates are charged to income in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become
known, and losses are accrued when identified,

Warranty— We warrant our products against defects in materials and workmanship arising during normal
use. We service warranty claims directly through our customer service department or contracted third-
party warranty repair facilities. Our warranty period ranges up to three years. We provide for estimated
product warranty expenses, which are included in cost of sates, as we sell the related preducts. Because
warranty expense is a forecast based cn the best available information, primarily historical claims experi-
ence, actual claim costs may differ from the amounts provided. If a significant product defect were to be
discovered on a high volume product, our financial statements cou.d be materially impacted. Histerically,
product defects have been less than 0.5% of net sales units. Each [1.1% change in the ratio of product de-
fects to net sales units impacts the warranty reserve and cost of sales by approximately $50 thousand.

Inventories—+ Our inventories consist of wireless control devices, including but not limited to universal
remote controls, antennas and inlegrated circuits and are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out method. We carry inventory in amounts necessary to satisfy our
customers' inventory requirements on a timely basis. New preduct innovations and technological advances
may shorten a given product’s life cycle. We continually monitor our, inventory status to control inventory
levels and dispose of any excess or obsolete inventories on hand. We write down our inventory for esti-
mated obsclescence and unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the inventory's cost and
its estimated market value based upon our best estimates about future demand and market conditions.

If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, new technology is
developed that renders our products obsolete or significant price decreases occur in component parts,
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such as integrated circuits, additional inventory write-downs may be required, which could have a material
impact on our financial statements. Qur total excess and obsolete inventory reserve as of December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2005 was approximately $2.2 millicn and $2.3 million, respectively, or 7.6% and
7.8% of total inventory. Each 1% change in the ratio of excess and obsolete inventory reserve to inventory
would impact cost of sales by approximately $300 thousand.

Business Combinations-+ We are required to allocate the purchase price of acquired companies to the
tangibte and intangible assets and the liabilities assumed, as well as in-process research and development
("IPR&D"}, based on their estimated fair values. In October 2004, we purchased SimpleDevices, for approx-
imately $12.8 million, including direct acquisition costs; the purchase price has been allocated to the net
assets acquired based on estimated fair values. Such valuations require management to make significant
estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. The significant purchased intan-
gible assets recorded by us include customer contracts, developed and core technology and trade names.

Critical estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include but are not limited to:

= future free cash flow from customer contracts, customer lists, distribution agreements, acquired devel-
oped technologies and patents;

* expected costs to develop IPR&D into commercially viable products and cash flows from the products
once they are completed;

* brand awareness and market position, as well as assumptions about the period of time the brand will
continue ta be used in our product portfolio; and

e discount rates utilized in discounted cash flow models.

Qur estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inher-
ently uncertain and unpredictadle and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.

Valuation of long-lived assets and intangible assets— We assess long-lived and intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be
recoverable. Factors considered important which could trigger an impairment review if significant include
the following:

» underperformance relzative to historical or projected future operating results;
e changes in the manner of use of the assets;

« changes in the strategy of our overall business;

= negative industry or economic trends;

« a decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and

* 3 variance between our market capitalization relative to net book value.

When we determine that the carrying value of a long-lived asset or an intangible asset may not be
recoverable based upen the existence of cne or more of the above indicators of impairment we perform
animpairment review. If the carrying value of the asset is larger than the undiscounted cash flows, the
asset is impaired. We measure an impairment based on the projected discounted cash flow method using
a discount rate determined by our management tc be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current
business maodel. In assessing the recoverability, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future
cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the respective assets. If these estimates or their
related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges.
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Goodwill-3 We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31 of each year and between annual
evaluations if events accur ar circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value
of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. Such circumstances could inctude, but are not limited to:
(1] a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, (2) unanticipated competition, or (3]
an adverse action or assessment by a regulator.

When performing the impairment review, we determine the carrying amount of each reporting unit by
assigning assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill, Lo thase reporting units, A reporting unit is
defined as an operating segment ar cne level below an aperating segment [referred to as a compenent). A
component of an operating segment is deemed a reporting unit if the compenent constitutes a business for
which discrete financial information is available, and segment management regulariy reviews the cperat-
ing results of that component. Our domestic and international operations represent components of the
Core Business Segment.

To evaluate whether goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to which the
goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill. We determine the fair
value of each reporting unit using the present value of expected future cash flows for that reporting unit.
If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the amount of the impairment loss must
be measured.

The impairment loss would be calculated by comparing the imglied fair value of goodwill to its carrying
amount. In calculating the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill, the fair value is allocated to
all of the other assets and liabilities of that unit based on their fair values. The excess of the fair value of a
reporting unit over the amount assigned te its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of good-
will. An impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied
fair value.

Income Taxes-» As part of the process of preparing our consolidatad financial statements, we estimate
our income taxes in each of the taxing jurisdictions in which we operate. This process invalves estimating
our actual current tax expense together with assessing any temporary differences resulting from the dif-
ferent treatment of certain items, such as the timing for recognizing expenses for tax and financial report-
ing purposes. These differences may result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our
consolidated balance sheet.

We are required to assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets, which include net operating
loss carryforwards and temporary differences that are expected to be deductible in future years, witl be
recoverable from future taxable inceme or other tax planning strategies. 1 recovery is not Likely, we must
provide a valuation allowance based on our estimates of future taxable income in the various taxing juris-
dictions and the amount of deferred taxes that are ultimately realizable.

The provision for tax liabitities involves evaluations and judgments of uncertainties in the interpretation
of complex tax regulations by various taxing autharities. In situatioas involving tax related uncertainties,
we provide for tax liabilities when we believe such liabilities are probable under SFAS 5, Accounting far
Contingent Liabilities. Actual results could differ from our estimates.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense—+ Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123R, using the madified-prospective transition method, and therefore we have not
restated prior periods’ results, Under this method, we recognize compensation expense for all share-
based awards granted after January 1, 2006 or granted prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006,

in accordance with SFAS 123R. Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, we recognize
such compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures, but only for those shares expected to vest on a
straight-line basis over the service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of three
to four years. In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC”] issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107 {"SAB 107"] regarding the SEC's interpretation of SFAS 123R and the valuation of share-
based compensation for public companies. We have applied the provisions of SAB 107 in our adoption of
SFAS 123R.

Prior to January 1, 2004, we accounted for options granted under these plans using the recognition
and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board ["TAPB"]} Opinien Ne. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, ["APB 25°] and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under the intrinsic-
value method of APR 25, compensation cost is the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at
the grant date over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the siock. We grant options with an exer-
cise price equal to the market value of the common stock on the date of grant; therefore no compensation
expense was recognized retated to those options for the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years.

We issue restricted stock awards te the outside directors for services performed. Under both APB
No. 25 and SFAS Nao. 123R, compensation expense related to restricted stock awards is based on the fair
value of the shares awarded as of the grant date. Compensation expense for the restricted stock awards is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period cf one year. The fair value of nonvested
shares is determined based on the clasing tradé price of the Company's shares on the grant date.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, companies may no lenger account for unrecognized compensa-
tion expense related to nonvested stock awards as deferred compensation. SFAS No. 123R requires that
any existing balance cof deferred compensation as of the adoption date be reclassified to additional paid-in
capital. Because the Campany adopted SFAS No. 123R on the modified prospective basis, results from
prior periods have not been restated to conform to the current presentation. During the year ended 2006,
2005 and 2004, restricted shares totaling 19,375, 20,000 and 9,077 were issued. respectively.

Stock-hased compensation expense is presented in the same income statement line as cash compen-
sation paid to the same employees or directors. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded
$3.1 million in pre-tax stock-based compensation expense. Included in SG&A stock-based compensation
expense is $0.3 millien in pre-tax stock-based compensaticn expense related to restricted stock.

The stock-based compensation expense was attributable ta the follewing:

DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006
Cost of sales $ 26
Research and development 370
Selling, general and administrative 2,721
Total stock-based compensation expense before income taxes $ 3,17
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The total amount of stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested awards nat yet rec-
ognized as of December 31, 2006 was $4.0 millien, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average life of 2.0 years. Additionally. the total amount of compensation expense related to non-vested
restricted awards not yet recognized as of December 31, 2006 was $0.2 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average life of 6 months.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of share-based payment
awards requires the utilization of highty subjective assumptions, including with respect to the expected
life of the share-based payment awards and stock price volatility. Management determined that historical
valatility calculated based on our actively fraded common stock is a better indicator of expected volatility
and future stock price trends than implied volatility. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of
share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inher-
ent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use
different assumptions, cur stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future.
In addition, we are required to estimate the expecied forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those
shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate, the amount
of stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from the amount recorded. If the for-
feiture rate decreased by 1%, stock-based compensation expense would have increased by approximately
$0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. In 2006, we granted 46,000 stock options to employees.
Due to the minimal amount of stock options granted in 2006, our stock-based.compensation expense relat-
ing to these stock options will not be materially affected by changes in our assumptions.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table sets forth our results of operations expressed as a percentage of net sales for the
periods indicated.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net sales 100.0 % 100.0% 100.0%
Costof sales 63.6 63.0 61.1
Gross profit 36.4 37.0 389
Research and development expenses 3.1 36 3.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 25.4 27.0 26.6
Operating income 7.9 6.4 3.6
Interest income 0.5 0.5 0.5
Other lexpensel income, net {0.2) 1.2 (0.4)
Incorme before income taxes B.2 8.1 8.7
Provision for income taxes 2.5 2.7 2.9
Net income 57% 5.4% 58%
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Consolidated— Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $235.8 million, an increase of 30%
compared to $181.3 miltion for the same period last year. Net income for 2006 was $13.5 million or $0.98
per share (basic) and $0.94 per share (diluted) compared to $9.7 million or $0.72 per share [basic] and
$0.4% per share [diluted) for 2005.

YEAR ENDED DECEMEER 31,

2006 2005
$ (MILLIONS} % OF TOTAL $ (MILLIDNS) % OF TOTAL
Net Sales
Business 3 178.8 75.8% 3 126.2 69.6%
Consumer 57.0 24.2% 55.1 30.4%
Total Net Sales $ 235.8 100.0% $ 181.3 100.0%

Net sales in our Business lines [subscription broadcasting, OEM, and computing companies) were
approximately 76% of net sales for 2006 compared to approximately 70% for 2005. Net sales in our busi-
ness lines for 2006 increased by 42% to $178.8 miltion from $126.2 million in 2005. This increase in sales
resulted primarily from an increase in the volume of remote control sales, which was partially offset by
lower prices. The increase in remote control sales volume was attributable to the continued deployment of
advanced function set-top boxes by the service operators and market share gains with a few key subscrip-
tion broadcasting customers. These advanced functions include digital video recording ["DVR"], video-on-
demand ["VOD"), and high definition television ["THDTV"]. We expect that the deployment of the advanced
function set-top boxes by the service operatoars will continue into the foreseeable future as penetration
for each of the functions cited continues to increase. As a result, we expect Business category revenue to
range between $195 and $205 million in 2007.

Net sales in our Consumer lines [One For AlL® retail, private label, custom installers, and direct import]
were approximately 24% of net sales for 2006 compared to approximately 30% for 2005. Net sales in our
consumer lines for 2006 increased by 4% to $57.0 million, from $55.1 million in 2005. Retail sales outside
North America and Europe increased by $1.2 million compared to 2005 due to a new distributor in Austra-
lia and strong sales in Argentina, Brazil and New Zealand. The increase in consumer lines net sates was
also driven by the strengthening of both the Euro and the British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar, which
resulted in an increase in net sales of approximately $1.0 million. However, excluding the positive foreign
exchange impact, the dollar amount of European Retail sales was constant, compared 10 the prior year.
This increase in consumer lines net sales was also driven by our entry into the custom electronic design &
installation association ["CEDIA’] market in the second quarter of 2005, as CEDIA sales increased by $0.8
million from 2005. Partially offsetting these increases was Private Label sales, which decreased by $0.5
million, or 12%, to $3.5 million in 2006 from $4.0 million in 2005. This was due to a decline in the volume
of Kameleon sales in the United States. Additionally, United States direct import licensing and product
revenues for 2004 decreased by $0.4 million or 16%, to $2.1 million in 2006 from $2.5 million in 2005, due
to a decline in royalty revenue. We expect Consumer category revenue to range between $60 and $70 mil-
lionin 2007.

Gross profit for 2006 was $85.9 million compared to $47.1 million for 2005. Gross profit as a percent of
sales for 2006 was 34.4% compared to 37.0% for 2005. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net
sales was primarily attributable to subscription broadcast sales, which generally have a lower gross profit
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rate as compared to our other sales, representing a larger percentage of our total business. The impact
of this change in mix was a 3.3% reduction in the gross profit rate. Partially offsetting this decrease in the
gross profit rate was a reduction of $1.4 million of freight expense recorded in 2004 as compared to 2005.
In 2006, there was a decrease in the percentage of units that were shipped by air. Lower freight expense
contributed to a 1.2% increase in the gross profit rate. A reduction in inventory scrap expense of $0.9
million added 0.7% 10 the gross profit rate. Scrap expense has declined as inventory management has im-
proved. Royalty expense increased $41 thousand, but added 0.5% to the gross profit rate. Royalty expense
is tied to Consumer sales, which have declined as a percentage of our total business. Warranty expense
decreased by $0.2 million, which added 0.2% to the profit rate. Gross profit was also favorably impacted
by the strengthening of both the Eurg and British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar, which resulted in an
increase in gross profit of approximately $0.9 million and an increase of 0.2% in the grass profit rate.

Research and develepment expenses increased 13% from $6.6 million in 2005 to $7.4 miltion in 2004.
The expensing of stock options, which was adopied on January 1, 2006 [SFAS 123R], accounted for $0.4
million of the increase. The remainder of the increase is related to development efforts with radio frequen-
cy technology using the Z-Wave platform, continued expansion of the Nevo® platform and development
efforts taking place at our San Mateo location. We expect research and development expenses to remain
near current levels for the full year 2007.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 23% from $48.9 million in 2005 to $59.9 million
in 2006. Employee performance-based bonuses increased by $4.0 million, payroll and benefits increased
by $3.5 millien due to the growth of our company, expensing of stack options, which was adopted on Janu-
ary 1, 2006 [SFAS 123R], amounted to $2.4 millien, travel increased $0.8 million, delivery and freight costs
increased by $0.5 million due to the increase in sales volume, advertising increased by $0.5 million, $0.4
million is attributable to tradeshows and $0.4 million due to the strengthening of both the Euro and British
Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar. These items were partially offset by lower bad debt expense, which
decreased by $1.9 million. Fiscal 2005 bad debt expense included a $1.6 million write-down for a receiv-
able due from a former European distributor. We expect that selling, general, and administrative expenses
will range between $63.6 and $47.6 million for the full year 2007.

[n 2006, we recorded $1.4 million of interest income compared to $0.8 million for 2005. This increase
is due to higher money market rates and a higher average cash balance. Net interest income will range
between $1.5 and $2.0 millicn in 2007.

In 2006, other expense, net was $0.5 million as compared to $2.2 million of other income, net for 2005,
Approximately $0.5 million of other expense in 2006 resulted from foreign currency losses, and approxi-
mately $2.1 mutlion of other income in 2005 resulted from foreign currency gains.

We recorded income tax expense of $5.9 million in 2006 compared to $5.0 million in 2005. Our effective
tax rate was 30.4% in 2006 compared to 33.9% in 2005. The decrease in our effective tax rate is due pri-
marily to the Netherlands’ statutory tax rate decreasing from 31.5% in 2005 to 29.6% in 2006. We estimate
that our effective tax rate will range between 30.0% and 32.0% for the full year 2007

44 UMIVERSAL ELECTRONICS 2006 ANNUAL REPORT




YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

Consolidated-+ Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2005 were $181.3 million, an increase of 15%
compared to $158.4 million fer the same period last year. Net income far 2005 was $9.7 million or $0.72
per share (basic) and $0.69 per share [diluted] compared to $9.1 million or $0.67 per share [basic] and
$0.45 per share |diluted] for 2004.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005 2004
5 (MILLIONS) % OF TOTAL S [MILLIONS) % OF TOTAL
Net Sales
Business $ 126.2 69.6% $ 37.6 61.6%
Consumer 55.1 30.4% 60.8 384%
Total Net Sales $ 181.3 100.0% b 158.4 100.0%

Net sales in our Business lines [subscription broadcasting, OEM, and computing companies] were ap-
proximately 70% of net sates for 2005 compared to 62% for 2004. Net sales in our business lines for 2005
increased by 29% to $126.2 million fram $97.6 million in 2004. This increase in sales resulted primarily
from an increase in the volume of remote control sales, which was partially offset by lower prices. The in-
crease in remote control sales volume was attributable to the continued deployment of advanced function
set-top boxes by the service operators and market share gains with a few key subscription broadcasting
customers. These advanced functions include digital video recording ["DVR’], video-on-demand ("VOD"),
and high definition television ["THDTV"]. Royalty revenue [revenue earned through licensing of intellectual
property] recognized in 2005 attributable to agreements signed in the fourth quarter of 2004 of $1.5 million
and the acquisition of SimpleDevices also contributed to the increase in net sates. The acquisition of Sim-
pleDevices added net sales of $0.7 million and 1% to the Business category net sales growth.

Net sales in our Consumer tines [One For ALL® ratail, private labet, custom installers, and direct import]
were approximately 30% of net sales for 2005 compared to 38% for 2004. Net sales in our consumer lines
for 2005 decreased by 9% to $55.1 million, from $60.8 million in 2004, The decrease in sales resulted
primarily frem a decrease in European retail sales, which were down 11% to $43.0 million in 2005 from
%47.6 million in 2004. This decrease was primarily attributable to tower volumes in the U.K. market and the
weakening of both the Euro and the British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar. The impact of the weaken-
ing currencies resulted in a decrease in net sales of approximately $0.6 million. Excluding the negative
foreign exchange impact, European retail sales decreased $4.0 million compared to 2004, Private label
sales decreased by 41% to $4.0 million in 2005 from $6.8 million in 2004. This was due to a decline in the
volume of Kameleon® sales. Kameleon® sales declined during 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of fewer
new product introductions. United States direct import licensing and product revenues for 2005 decreased
by 21% to $2.5 million from $3.2 million in 2004 due to & decline in the volume of Kameleon® sales. Par-
tially offsetting these decreases was our entry into the CEDIA market, in the second quarter of 2005. This
added net sales of $2.5 million and 5% to the Consumer category net sales growth as compared to 2004.

Gross profit for 2005 was $67.1 million compared to $61.6 million for 2004. Gross profit as a percent of
sales for 2005 was 37.0% compared to 38.9% for 2004. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net
sales was primarily attributable to subscription broadcast sales, which generally have a lower gross profit
rate as compared to our other sales, representing a larger percentage of our total business. The impact of
this change in mix was a 1.8% reduction in the gross profit rate. Gross profit was also negatively impacted
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by an additionat $1.9 million of freight expense recorded in 2005 as compared to 2004. A pertion of this
increase in freight relates to sales volume; however, the majority of the increase is due to a change in rate.
In 2005, there was an increase in the percentage of units that were shipped by air versus ocean as well

as a mix shift towards subscription broadcast sales. Freight contributed to a 0.8% reduction in the gross
profit rate. Duties increased $0.6 mitlion, as a larger percentage of units were imporied. The increase in
duty expense contributed to a 0.3% reduction in the gross profit rate, Gross profit was also negatively im-
pacted by the weakening of both the Euro and British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar, which resulted in
a decrease in gross profit of approximately $0.6 million and a reduction of 0.2% in the gross profit rate. All
other product costs, which include warranty expense, quality assurance expense, and component costs,
increased $0.7 million and reduced the gross profit rate by 0.4%. Partially offsetting these decreases in
the gross profit rate was a reduction in inventory scrap expense of $1.1 million. This reduction added 0.9%
to the gross profit rate. [n addition, royalty expense declined $0.7 million due to the decline in the volume
of Kameleon® sales, which added 0.7% to the gross profit rate.

Research and development expenses increased 12% from $5.9 million in 2604 to $6.4 million in 2005.
The increase is related to our continued expansion of the Nevo® platform and develapment efforts taking
place at SimpleDevices. Partially offsetting these increases was a reduction in the development of audio-
video accessories for sale in our retail channel.

Selting. general and administrative expenses increased 16% from $42.2 million in 2004 to $48.9 million
in 2005. Approximately $2.8 million of this increase was attributable to ihe acguisition of SimpleDevices,
$2.0 million to payroll and benefits, $1.9 mitlion to bad debt expense, which included a $1.6 million reserve
for a receivable due from a former European distributor, $1.2 million 1o delivery and freight costs caused
by the increase in volume, $0.7 million to increased tax and audit fees, $0.4 million to sales commissions,
$0.5 million to travel, $0.3 million to trade shows, $0.3 million to temperary clerical and warehouse staff,
and $0.4 million to alt other selling, general, and administrative costs. These items were partially offset by
lower employee bonus expense, which decreased by $2.8 million, temporary professional staiff, which de-
creased by $0.9 millien, outside legal fees, which decreased by $0.4 million, and employment and recruit-
ing costs, which decreased %0.3 million.

In 20085, we recorded $0.8 million of interest income compared to $0.7 million for 2004. This increase is
due to higher money market rates.

in 2005, other income, net was $2.2 million as compared to $0.5 millicn of other expense, net for 2004,
Approximately $2.1 million of other income in 2005 resulted from fereign currency transaction gains
reflecting the strengthening of the US Dollar. The results for 2004 included foreign currency exchange
losses of $0.2 million. An additional $0.4 million of other expense in 2004 was the resutt of our write-down
of an investment in a private company.

We recorded income tax expense of $5.0 million in 2005 compared to $4.6 million in 2004, Our effective
tax rate was 33.9% in 2005, and 33.6% in 2004.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

IN THOUSANDS YEAR ENDED INCREASE YEAR ENDED INCREASE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2006 [(DECREASE] DECEMBER 31,2005 [DECREASE} DECEMBER 31, 2004
Cash provided by operating activities $ 17,212 % 3,083 $ 14,129 $ 10,138 $ 3,99
Cash used for investing activities (5,068) (1,031) {4,037) 12,521 (16,558)
Cash provided by [used for] financing activities 5,183 8,429 (3,246) 1,565 {4,811)
Effect of exchange rate changes 5,107 10,784 (5,677) (7,046) 1,369
IN THOUSANDS INCREASE
DECEMBER 11, 2005 (DECREASE) DECEMBER 31, 2005
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,075 § 22,434 $ 43,64
Working capital 106,179 28,978 77,201

Cash provided by operating activities-+ Our principal sources of funds are from aperations. Cash pro-
vided by operating activities for 2006 was $17.2 mitlion, compared to $14.1 million and $4.0 million during
2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in cash flows from operations in 2006 compared to 2005 is pri-
marily due to an increase in net sales, which resulted in an increase in net income of 39% from $9.7 million
in 2005 to $13.5 mitlion in 2006, as well as improvement in our days sales outstanding and overall inven-
tory management. Our days sales outstanding improved from approximately 76 days at December 31, 2005
to approximately 67 days at December 31, 2006, due primarily to strong collections from our significant
customers. In addition, despite an increase in net sales of approximately 30% from 2005 to 2004, inventory
levels remained relatively constant with the prior year.

The increase in cash flow from operations in 2005 compared to 2004 was primarily due to tower income
tax payments in 2005, increased cash collections resulting fram higher net sales ofiset partially by an
increase in our days sales outstanding {"DS0") and accounts payable and accrued expenses increasing by
a greater amount in 2005 versus 2004.

Cash used for investing activities— Cash used for investing activities during 2006 was $5.1 million as
compared to $4.0 million and $16.6 millian during 2005 and 2004, respectively. The decrease in cash used
for investing activities in 2005 comnpared to 2004 was primarily caused by the purchase of SimpleDevices in
2004 for $12.8 mitlion.

Capital expenditures in 2006, 2005, and 2004 were $4.1 million, $3.1 million, and $2.7 million, respec-
tively. Capital expenditures relate primarily to acquiring product tooling each year and we anticipate this
trend will continue in 2007. In order to accommodate the growth of our company, we plan to renovate and
expand our corporate headguarters in early 2007. Costs of this renovation are estimated to be approxi-
mately $1.0 million and will be financed through our current operations as well as a $0.4 million tenant
improvement allowance. We are currently evaluating our existing and future information system require-
ments, and we may make a significant investment to upgrade our systems in 2007.

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities— Cash provided by financing activities during 2006 was
$5.2 million as compared to cash used for financing activities of $3.2 million and $4.8 million during 2005
and 2004, respectively. Proceeds from stack option exercises were $7.5 million during 2006, compared to
proceeds of $2.9 million and $1.9 million during 2005 and 2004, respectively. We purchased 127,326 shares
of our common stock at a cost of $2.6 mitlion during 2006, compared to 356,285 and 494,998 shares at a
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cost of $6.1 million and $6.7 million during 2005 and 2004, respectively. We hold these shares as treasury
stock, and they are available for reissue. Presently, except for using a minimal number of these treasury
shares to compensate our cutside board mermbers, we have no pians to distribute these shares, although
we may change these plans if necessary to fulfitl our on-going business objectives.

Effective August 31, 2006, we amended our original Credit Facility with Comerica, extending our line of
credit through August 31, 200%. Under the amended Credit Facility, we have authority to acquire up to an
additional 2.0 million shares of our commen stock in the open market. From August 31, 2006, through De-
cember 31, 2006, we purchased 96,600 shares of our commaon stock. leaving 1,903,400 shares available for
purchase under the Credit Facility. During 2007 we may continue to purchase shares of our common stock
if we believe conditions are favorable or to offset the dilutive effect of stack option exercises.

The amended Credit Facility provides a $15 million unsecured revolving credit agreement with Co-
merica for an additional three years, expiring on August 31, 2009. Under the Credit Facility, the interest
payable is variable and is based on the bank’s cost of funds or the LIBOR rate plus a fixed margin of 1.25%.
The interest rate in effect as of December 31, 2006 using the LIBOR Rate option plus s fixed margin of
1.25% was 6.58%. We pay a commitment fee ranging from zero to a rnaximum rate of 1/4 of 1% per year on
the unused portion of the credit tine depending on the amount of cash investment retained with Comerica
during each quarter. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, dividend payments are allowed for up to 100%
of the prior fiscal year's net income, to be paid within 90 days of this period’s year end. We are subject to
certain financial covenants related to our net worth, quick ratio, and net income. Amounts available for
borrowing under the Credit Facility are reduced by the oulstanding balance of import letters of credit. As

N of December 31, 2006, we did not have any amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility or any outstand-
ing impart letters of credit. Furthermore, as of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with all finan-
cial covenants required by the Credit Facility.

Historically, our working capital needs have typically been greatest during the third and fourth quarters
when accounts receivable and inventories increase in connection with the fourth quarter holiday selling
season. At December 31, 2006, we had $106.2 million of working cap-tal as compared to $77.2 at December
31, 2005. The increase in working capital during these periods is principally due 1o higher cash and ac-
counts receivable balances at December 31, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2006 and the effect these
obligations are expecied to have an our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

PAYMENTS DUE 8Y PERIOD

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS {N THOUSANDS TOTAL LESSTHANW 1 YEAR 1-3I YEARS 4-5 YEARS AFTER 5 YEARS
Operating L.ease Obligations $ 6,266 $ 1653 $ 2,250 ¢ 1,681 % 682
Purchase Obligations™! 20,606 20,590 16 ~ -
Total $ 26,872 % 22,243 §$ 2,266 % 1,681 s 682

" Purchase obligations primarily consist of an agreement with a specific vendor to purchase approxmately 80% of our integrated circuits through
December 31, 2007 fram this vendor.

At December 31, 2006, we did not have any bank guarantees that provide for the bank to make payment on
our behalf in the event of our non-payment for transactions with suppl ers in the ordinary course of business.

At December 31, 2006, we had approximately $6.1 million and $60.0 million of cash and cash equiva-
lents in the United States and Europe, respectively. At December 31, 2005, we had approximately $1.0 mil-
lion and $42.6 million of cash and cash equivalents in the United States and Europe, respectively.
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1t is our policy to carefully monitor the state of our business, cash requirements, and capital structure.
We believe that funds generated from our operations and available from our credit facility will be sufficient
to fund current business operations as well as anticipated growth at least through the end of 2007; how-
ever, there can be no assurance that such funds will be adequate for that purpose.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We do not participate in any off balance sheet arrangements.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In Septemnber 2004, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 ["SAB 1087, Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. In SAB 108,
the SEC provides quidance cn considering the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current
year misstatements for the purpose of materiality assessment. SAB 108 is effective for the first fiscal year
ending after Novemnber 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 had no effect on our consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations ar cash flows,

In September 2006, the FASE issued SFAS Na. 157, Fair Value Measurements ["SFAS 1577, which defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles
[GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and liabitities. SFAS 157 ap-
plies when other accounting pronouncements require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at
fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 157 does not require new fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of
SFAS 157 will have on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In July 2006, the Firancial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes- an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. Interpretation 48, which clarifies
Statement 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, establishes the criterion that an individual tax paosition has to
meet for some or all of the benefits of that position to be recognized in the Company's financial statements.
On initial application, Interpretation 4B will be applied to all tax positions for which the statute of limitations
remains open. Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the adoption
date will be recognized or continue to be recognized. The cumulative effect of applying Interpretation 48 will
be reported as an adjustment to retained earnings at the beginning of the peried in which itis adopted.

Interpretation 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 20046, and will be adopted by
us on January 1, 2007, We have not been able to complete our evaluation of the impact of adopting Inter-
preiation 48 and as a result, are not able to estimate the effect the adoption will have on our financial posi-
tion and results of operations, including our ability to comply with current debt covenants.

In March 2006, the Task Force of the FASB issued EITF No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected from Customers
and Remitted to the Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement [That is Gross ver-
sus Net Presentation). EITF 06-3 provides guidance on the presentation of taxes remitted to governmental
authorities on the income statement, The Task Force reached the conclusion that the presentation of taxes
on either a gross lincluded in revenue and costs) or a net [excluded from revenues] basis is an accounting
policy decision that should be disclosed pursuant to APB Opinion No. 22, Disclosures of Accounting Policies.
Any such taxes that are reported on a gross basis should be disclosed if amounts are significant. EITF 06-3
is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2006. We record revenue net of sales tax and VAT, At
the time we record revenue, sales tax and VAT ¢harged to customers are recorded as a liability in other ac-
crued expenses. The Liability is reduced when the sales tax or VAT is remitted to the local government.
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OUTLOOK

Our focus is to build technology and products that make the consumer’s interaction with devices and
content within the home easier and more enjoyable. The pace of change in the home is increasing. The
growth of new devices, such as DVD players, PYR/DVR technologies, HDTV and home theater solutions,
to name only a few, has transformed control of the home entertainment center into a complex challenge
for the consumer. The more recent introduction and projected growth of digital media technologies in the
consumer’s life will further increase this complexity, We have set out to create the interface for the con-
nected home, building a bridge between the home devices of teday and the networked home of the future.
We intend to invest in new products and technalagy, particularly in the connected home space, which will
expand our business beyond the control of devices to the control of and access to content, such as digital
media, to enrich the entertainment experience.

We will continve enbancing our leadership position in our core business by develeping custom products
for our subscription broadcasting, OEM, retail and computing custoiners, growing our capture expertise in
infrared technology and radio frequency standards, adding te our partfolio of patented or patent pending
technologies and developing new platform products. We are also developing new ways to enhance remote
controls and other accessory preducts.

Throughout 2007, we are continuing development of our Nevo® technology, an embedded solution that
transforms an electronic display into a sophisticated and easy-to-use wireless home control and automa-
tion device. New Nevo products will help us to increase the strength we have built in our custom installa-
tion business worldwide. We are continuing to seek ways to use our technology to make the set-up and use
of control products, and the access to and control of digital entertainment within the home entertainment
network, easier and more affordable, In addition, we are working on product line extensions to our Gne Fer
Al® branded products which include digital antennas, signal boosters, and ather A/V accessories,

We are also seeking ways to increase our customer base worldw:de, particularly in the areas of sub-
scription broadcasting, 0EM and One For ALL® international retail. We will continue to wark on strengthen-
ing existing relationships by warking with customers to understand how to make the consumer interac-
tion with products and services within the home easier and more en;oyable. We intend to invest in new
products and technology to meet our customer needs now and into the future.

We will continue developing sofiware and firmware solutions that can enable devices such as TVs,
set-top boxes, stereos, automotive audio systems and other consumer electronic products to wirelessly
connect and interact with home networks and interactive services to deliver digital entertainment and
information. This "smart device” category is emerging, and in the remainder of 2007 we look to continue to
build relationships with our customers in this category.

Throughout 2007, we will continue to evaluate acceptable acquisition targets and strategic partner-
ship opportunities in our core business lines as well as in the networked home marketplace. We caution,
however, that no assurance can be made that any suitable acquisition target or partnership opportunity
will be identified and, if identified, that a transaction can be consummated. Mareover, if consummated, no
assurance can be made that any such acquisition or partnership will profitably add to our operations.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to various market risks, including interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate fluc-
tuations. We have established policies, procedures and internal processes governing our management of
these risks and the use of financial instruments to mitigate our risk exposure.

On August 31, 2004, we amended our credit facility to extend for an additional three years, expiring
on August 31, 2009. The interest payable under our revolving Credit Facitity with our bank is variable and
based on either [i] the bank's cost of funds or (i) the LIBOR rate plus a fixed margin of 1.25%; the rate is
affected by changes in market interest rates. At Cecember 31, 2006, we bhad no borrowings on eur credit
facility. The interest rate in effect on the credit facility as of December 31, 2006 using the LIBOR Rate op-
tion plus a fixed margin of 1.25% was 6.58%.

At December 3%, 2006 we had wholly owned subsidiaries in The Netherlands, United Kingdom, Ger-
many, France, Argentina, Spain and Italy. Sales from these operations are typically denominated in local
currencies including Euros, British Pounds and Argentine Pesos, thereby creating exposure to changes
in exchange rates. Changes in local currency exchange rates relative to the U.S. Dollar and, in seme
cases, to each other, may positively or negatively aifect our sales, gross margins and net income. From
time to time, we enter into foreign currency exchange agreements to manage our exposure arising from
fluctuating exchange rates that affect cash flaws and our reported income. Contract terms for the foreign
currency exchange agreements normally last less than nine months. We do not enter into any derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.

The value of our net balance sheet positions held in foreign currency can also be impacied by fluctuat-
ing exchange rates, as can the value of the income generated by our European subsidiaries. It is difficult
to estimate the impact of fluctuations on reported income, as it depends on the opening and closing rates,
the average net balance sheet positions held in a fareign currency and the amount of income generated in
local currency. We routinely forecast what these balance sheet positions and income generated in local
currency may be, and we take steps to minimize exposure as we deem approepriate.

The sensitivity of earnings and cash flows to the variability in exchange rates is assessed by applying an
approximate range of potential rate fluctuations to our assets, obligations and projected results of opera-
tions denominated in foreign currency. Based on our overall foreign currency rate exposure at December
31, 2006, we believe that movements in foreign currency rates could have a material affect on our financial
position. We estimate that if the exchange rates for the Euro and the British Pound relative to the U.5.
Dollar fluctuate 10% fram December 31, 20G6, net income and cash flows in the first quarter of 2007 would
fluctuate by approximately $0.1 million and $4.4 million, respectively.
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Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Sharehotders Universal Electronics Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jniversal Electronics Inc. as of Decem-
ber 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the twe years in the period ended December 31, 2C06. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s managemeni. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Qversight
Board (United States]. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasenabte
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstaternent. An audit inctudes ex-
amining, on a test basis, evidence supperting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the consolidated financial position of Universat Electrenics Inc. as of Decernber 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for each of the two years in
the period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 and Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its
method of accounting {or stock-based compensation as a result of adopting Statement of Financial Ac-
counting Standards No. 123{R], Share-Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion of the basic financial statements taken
as a whole. The Schedule Il is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of
the basic financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial staterments-and, in our opinion, is fairly siated in all material respectsin rela-
tion to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board [United States), the effectiveness of Universal Electronics Inc.’s internal control over financial re-
perting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria estabtished in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COS0) and our report
dated March 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

%W s Ll

Grant Thornton LLP
Irvine, California

March 9, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Universa! Electronics Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, present fairly, in all material respects, the results of opera-
tions and cash flows of Universal Electronics Inc. and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31,
2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the
| related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule
i are the respoensibility of the Cormpany’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion an these
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board [United
States]. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
. whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

el logi) L1

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Orange County, California
March 16, 2005, except for Note 18,
as to which the date is March 9, 2007
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE-RELATED DATA 2005 2005
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ) $ 65,075 $ 43,641
Accounts receivable, net 51,867 41,861
Inventories, net 26,459 26,708
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,122 3,34
Income tax receivable —_ 903
Deferred income taxes 3,069 2,971
Total current assets 150,192 119,925
Equipment, furniture and fixtures, net 5,899 4,352
Goodwill 10,644 10,431
Intangible assels, net 5,587 6,007
Other assets 21 403
Deferred incame taxes 6,065 5,201
Total asseis $ 178,608 $ 145,315
Liabilities And Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 20,153 $ 227N
Accrued sales discounts/rebates 4,498 3,406
Accrued income taxes 4,483 7,551
Accrued compensation 7,430 2,766
Other accrued expenses 7,449 6,270
Total current liabilities 44,013 42,724
Long term liabilities: l
Deferred income taxes 103 74
Deferred revenue — 229
Other long term liabality 275 —
Totat liabilities 44,391 43,027
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding — -
Common stock, $.01 par vatue, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 17,543,235 and
16,963,748 shares issued at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively 175 i69
Paid-in capital 94,733 83,220
Accumutated other comprehensive income [loss) 2,759 (5,265)
Retained earnings 68,514 54,994
Deferred stock-based compensation —_ (163)
165,181 132,955
Less cost of common stock in treasury, 3,528,827 and 3,420,876
shares at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively (31,964) {29,663)
Total stockholders’ equity 134,217 103,292
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 178,608 $ 145,319

The accompanying noles are anntegral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Income Statements

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE-RELATED DATA 2006 2005 2004
Net sales $ 235,846 $ 181,349 $ 158,380
Cost of sales 149,970 114,222 96,800
Gross profit B5,876 67,127 61,580
Research and development expenses 7.412 6,580 5,865
Selling, general and administrative expenses 59,947 48,870 42,175
Operating income 18,517 1,677 13,540
Interest income 1,401 845 723
Other [expense] income, net (498) 2,152 (540)
Income before provision for income taxes 19,420 14,674 13,723
Provision for income taxes 5,900 4,973 4,609
Net income $ 13,520 $ 8,701 $ 9,114
Earnings per share
Basic s 0,98 3 0.72 $ 0.67
Diluted $ 0.94 $ 0.69 $ 0.65
Shares used in computing earnings per share
Basic 13,818 13,462 13,567
Diluted 14,432 13,992 14,100

The accompanying aotes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS 227 &

wauronrage 5%



UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS FINANCIAL REVIEW —

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

COMMON S5TOCK ISSUED

IN THOUSANDS SHARES

Balance at December 31, 2003 16,405

]

AMOUNT

164

Comprehensive income:

Netinceme

Currency translaticn adjustment

Total comprehensive income

Shares issued for retirement plan 29
Purchase of treasury shares
Stock options exercised 209
Restricted stock grants
Shares issued to Directors
Director stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from exercise of non - gualified stock options
Balance at December 31, 2004 16,643

167

Comprehensive Income:

Net income

Currency translation adjustment

Total comprehensive income

Shares issued for retirement plan ES
Purchase of treasury shares
Stock options exercised 290
Restricted stock grants
Shares issued to Directors
Director stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from exercise of non - qualified stock options
Balance at December 31, 2005 16,964

169

Comprehensive Income:

Net tncome

Currency translation adjustment

Total comprehensive income

Shares issued for retirement plan 29
Purchase of treasury shares
Stock options exercised 550
Shares issued to Direciors
Stock-based compensation expense under SFAS 123R
Tax benefit from exercise of non - qualified stock options
Reclassification of deferred stock-based compensation on adaption of SFAS 123(R)
Balance at December 31, 2006 17,543

175

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ACCUMULATED OTHER

DEFERRED

COMMON STOCK |IN TREASURY PALD-IN COMPREHENSIVE RETAINED STOCK-BASED COMPREHENSIVE
SHARES AMOUNT CAPITAL INCOME (LOSS) EARNINGS LOMPENSATION TOTALS INCOME
(2,599) $ (17,233) $ 75,805 s 298 $ 36,179 $ {42) $ 95,171
9,114 $ 9,114
3,273 3,273
$ 12,387
430 431
{495) (6,696) {6,696)
1,883 1,885
349 (349) —
9 75 (76) -
222 222
481 481
{3,085) (23,853) 78,872 3,571 45,293 (169) 103,881
9,701 $ 9,701
(8.836) {8,836)
$ 865
533 533
(358) (5,110} {6,110
2,862 2,864
326 (326) —
20 300 {300) -
74 332 406
B53 853
(3,421) (29,663} 83,220 {5,265} 54,994 (163) $103,292
13,520 $ 13,520
8,024 8,024
§ 21,544
528 529
27} (2,589} (2,589)
7,492 7,497
19 288 (288) —
3,117 3nz
827 827
(163) 163 —
{3,529) % (31,964) § 94,733 $ 2,759 $ 68,514 3 — $134,217
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

YEAR ENDEC OECEMBER 311,

IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE-RELATED DATA 2306 2005 2004
Cash provided by aperating activities:
Netincome $ 13,520 $ 9,701 5 9,114

Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 4,187 3,702 3,093
Provision for doubtful accounts 210 2,1 161
Provision for inventory write-downs 1,810 2,735 3,788
Deferred income taxes {637} (130) 349
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 5§52 853 481
Shares issued for employee benefit plan 529 533 431
Stock-based compensation inz 406 222
Loss on disposal of fixed assets — — 192
Write-off of in-process R&D —_ - 240
Write down of investment in private company — 3 357
Changes in operating assets and liabilities [net of acquisition in 20041:
Accounts receivable (7,120) (6,966) (6,386)
Inventory (280) (7,128) {7,311
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,459 (1,207) {(2,490)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,546 5,416 2,329
Accrued income and other taxes (2,681) 4,090 (579)
Net cash provided by operating activities 17,212 14,129 3,97
Cash used for investing activities:
Acquisition of equipment, furniture and fixtures (4,057) (3,137 (2,657)
Acquisitien of intangible assets (1,011) (300) 1,147)
Payments for business acquired, net of cash acquired — - {(12,754)
Net cash provided by investing aclivities (5,068) {4,037} {16,558)
Cash provided by lused for) financing activities:
Proceeds from stock options exercised 7,497 2,864 1,885
Treasury stock purchased (2,589) (6,110) (6,696)
Excess tax benefit from stock-based campensation 275 — —
Net cash provided by [used for) financing activities 5,183 (3,248) (4,811)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 5,107 (5.677) 1,369
Net increase ldecrease) in cash and cash equivalents 22,434 1,169 (16,009)
Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of year 43,641 42,472 58,481
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 66,075 § 4364 $ 42,472

Supplemental Cash Flow Information — Income taxes paid were $8.7 million, $0.3 million. and $4.5 million
in 2004, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities— In 2004 we purchased over 99% of the outstanding
shares of SimpleDevices, Inc. for $12.8 million, net of cash acquired [See Notes to Consolidated Financial State-
ments-Note 22). In conjunction with the acquisition, assets acquired and liabilities assumed were as follows:

Fair value of assets acquired $ 13,613
Cash paid for capital stock, net 12,761
Liabtlittes assumed $ 852
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE | - Description of Business : Universal Electronics Inc., based in Southern California, has
developed a broad line of easy-to-use, pre-programmed universal wireless control praducts and au-
dio-video accessories that are marketed to enhance home entertainment systems as well as software
designed to enable consumers to wirelessly connect, control and interact with an increasingly complex
home environment. Qur primary markets include retail, private label, original equipment manufacturers
["DEMsT), custom instatlers, cable and satellite service providers, and companies in the personal comput-
ing industry. Over the past 19 years, we have developed a broad portfaolio of patented technologies and a
database of home connectivity seftware that we license to our customers, including many leading Fortune
500 companies. In addition, we sell our universal wireless control products and other audio/visual acces-
sories through our European headquarters in The Netherlands, and to distributors and retailers in Europe,
Australia, New Zealand, South Africa, the Middle East, Mexico, and selected countries in Asia and Latin
America under the One For All® brand name.

As used herein, the terms “we”, "us” and “our” refer to Universal Electronics Inc. and its subsidiaries
unless the context indicates to the contrary.

NOTE 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, All the intercompany accounts and significant transactions have been
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Reclassification and Segment Rzalignment: In the third quarter of 2006, we integrated the SimpleDevices
business segment into our Core Business segment in order to more closely align our financial reporting
with our business structure. The segment integratien did not impact previously reported consolidated net
revenue, income from operations, net income or net earnings per share.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified 1o conform with the presentation utilized in the cur-
rent year ended Dacember 31, 2006.

Estimates and Assumptions: The preparation of financial statements in confarmity with accounting pringi-
ples generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results may differ fram these estimates and judgments. On an on-going bas's, we evaluate
our estimates and judgments, including these related to revenue recognition, allowance for sales returns
and doubtful accounts, warranties, inventory valuation, business combinations, purchase price alloca-
tions, review for impairment of long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill, contingencies, stock-
based compensation expense and income taxes. These estimates may be adjusted as additional informa-
tion becomes available and any adjustment coutd be significant.

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue on the sale of products when delivery has occurred, there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is rea-
sonably assured. We record a pravision for estimated sales returns and allowances on product sales in the
same period as the related revenues are recorded. These estimates are based on historical sales returns,
analysis of credit memo data and other known facters. The provision recorded for estimated sales returns

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS 7071 "Nl oAl

REPCRT 58



UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS FINANCIAL REVIEW -

and allowances is deducted from gross sales to arrive at net sales in the period the related revenue is
recorded. Sales allowances reduce gross accounts receivable to arrive at accounts receivable, net in the
same period the related receivable is recorded. We have no obligations after the delivery of our products
other than the associated warranties (See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemenls-Note 21]. We main-
tain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated lesses resulting from the inability of our customers
to make payments for products sold or services rendered. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
a variety of factors, including historical experience, length of time receivables are past due, current eco-
nomic trends and changes in customer payment behavior. Also, we record specific provisions for individual
accounts when we become aware of a custorner’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as in
the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioratien in the customer’s operating results or financial position. if
circumstances related to a customer change, our estimates of the recoverability of the receivables would
be further adjusted, either upward or downward.

We generate service revenue, which is patd maonthly, as a result of providing consumer suppart pro-
grams to some of our customers through our call centers, These service revenues are recagnized when
services are performed, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sates price is fixed or deter-
minable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

We also license our intellectual property lincluding our patented technologies), trade secrets, trade-
marks, and database of infrared codes. We record license revenue when our customers ship products
incorporating our intetlectual property, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exist, the sales price is
fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elements, such as software products, licenses and/or
services, we atlocate revenue to each element based on its relative fair value. The fair values for the
multiple elements are determined based on vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE™|, or the price
charged when the element is sold separately. The restdual method is utilized when VSOE exists for all the
undelivered etements, but not for the delivered element, This is performed by allocating revenue to the
undelivered etements [that have VSOE] and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. When the fair
value for an undelivered element cannot be determined, we defer revenue for the delivered elements until
the undelivered elements are delivered. We limit the amount of revenue recognition for delivered elements
to the amount that is not contingent on the future delivery of products or services or subject to customer-
specified return or refund priviteges. In certain arrangements, we may provide for services that are insig-
nificant and would not affect revenue recognition.

We account for revenue under software licensing arrangements involving significant production, modi-
fication or customization of software in accordance with SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construc-
tion-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts. We recognize revenue and profit as work progresses on
long-term, fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method. When applying the percent-
age-of-completion method, we rely on estimates of total expected contract revenue and labor hours. We
follow this method because reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and labor applicable to various
stages of a contract can be made. Recognized revenue and profit are subject to revisions as the contract
progresses to completion. Revisions to revenue and profit estimates are charged to income in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the revision become known and losses are accrued when identified.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Fereign Currency Transactions: The functional currency fer our foreign
operations is their local currency. The translation of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars is performed for
balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates and for revenue and
expense accounts using the average exchange rate during the period. The gains and losses resulting from
the translation are included in the foreign currency translaticn adjustment account, a component of ac-
cumulated other comprehensive income {loss] in stockholders’ equity, and are excluded from net income.
The portions of inter-company accounts receivable and accounts payable that are not intended for settle-
ment are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.

We recorded a foreign currency translation gain of $8.0 million for the twetve months ended December
31, 2006 and a fareign currency translation loss of $8.8 million and a foreign currency translation gain of
$3.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The foreign currency translation
gain of $8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 is due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar versus
the Euro. The U.S. dollar/Euro spot rate was 1.32 and 1.18 at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005,
respectively. The foreign currency translation loss of $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 is
due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar versus the Euro. The U.S. dollar/Euro spot rate was 1.18 and 1.35
at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively. The foreign currency translation gain of $3.3
miltion for the year ended December 31, 2004 is due to the weakening of the U.S. dolar versus the Euro, The
U.S. dollar/Eurc spot rate was 1.35 and 1.26 at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

Transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates on recorded
assets and liabitities denominated in a currency different from the functional currency of the applicabte en-
tity are recorded in other [expensel income, net [See Notes to Consalidated Financial Staternents-Note 15).

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include cash accounts and all investmenis purchased
with initial maturities of three months or less. We maintain cash and cash equivalents with various financial
institutions. These financial institutions are located in many different geographic regions. We mitigate our
exposure to credit risk by placing our cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions.

At December 31, 2004, we had approximately $6.1 million and $60.0 millien of cash and cash equiva-
lents in the United States and Europe, respectively. At December 31, 2005, we had approximately $1.0 mil-
lion and $42.6 million of cash and cash equivalents in the United States and Europe, respectively.

Inventories: Inventories consisting of wireless control devices, including universal remote controls, anten-
nas, and related component parts, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-eut method and includes integrated circuits, sub-contracior costs, and freight-in. We carry
inveniory in amounts necessary to satisfy our customers’ inventory requirements on a timely basis.

New product innovations and technolegical advances may shorten a given product’s life cycle. We
continually monitor the inventory status to control inventory levels and dispose of any excess or obsolete
inventories on hand. We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory
equal to the difference between the cost of the inventary and its estimated fair value based upon our best
estimates about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than
those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. Inventory write-downs
totaled approximately $1.8 million, $2.7 million and $3.8 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The
decline in inventory write-downs is due to overall improvement in inventory management.
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Equipment, Furniture and Fixtures: Equipment, furniture and fixtures are recorded at cost. For financial
reporting purposes, depreciation is calculated using the straight-lire method over the estimated useful
lives of the respective assets. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the appropriate accounts and any gain ar loss is included in operating
income. We utilize a threshold of $1,000 for capitalizing individual assets and $5,000 for capitalizing bulk
assets. Additionally, these assets must have a useful life greate'r than one year.

Estimated useful lives consist of the following:

Tooling and Equipment 2-7 Years
Computer Equipment 3-5 Years
Software 3-9 Years
Furniture and Fixtures 5-7 Years
Leasebold Improvements Lesser of lease term or useful life [approximately 2 to 6 years]

Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets: Intangible assets consist principally of distribution rights, patents,
trademarks, trade names, and developed and core technologies. Capitalized amounts related to patenis
represent external legal costs for the application and maintenance of patents. Intangible assets are amor-
tized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from two to ten years.

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets and intangible assets whenever events ar changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors considered important
which could trigger an impairment review inctude the following: [1] significant underperformance relative
to expected historical or projected future operating results; {2] significant changes in the manner or use of
the assets or strategy for the averall business and (3) significant negative industry or economic trends.

When we determine that the carrying value may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impaicment. we conduct an impairment review. The asset is impaired if its
carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and even-
tual disposition of the asset. In assessing recoverability, we must make assumptions regarding estimated
future cash flows and other factars,

The impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. We
calculate fair value by taking the sum of the discounted projected cash flows over the assets remaining
useful life, using a discount rate commensurate with the risks inherent in our current business model.
When calculating fair value, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows, discount
rates and other factors. At December 31, 2004, it was determined there was no impairment of long-lived
assets or intangible assets.

Goodwill: We record the excess purchase price of net tangible and intangible assets acquired over their
estimated fair value as goodwitl, We have adopted the provisions of SFAS 142, Goodwill and Intangible
Assets. Under SFAS 142, we are required to test goodwill for impairment at least annually. We evaluate
the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31 of each year and between annual evaluations if events
occur or circumstances change that may reduce the fair value of the reporting unit betow its carrying
amount. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to: (1} a significant adverse change in legal
factors or in business climate, [2] unanticipated competition, or [3) an adverse action ar assessment by a
regulator. In performing the impairment review, we determine the carrying amount of each reporting unit
by assigning assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill, to those reporting units [See Notes to
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Consclidated Financial Statements-Note 3). A reparting unit is defined as an operating segment or one
level below an operating segment [referred to as a componentl. A component of an aperating segment is
deemed a reporting unit if the component constitutes a business for which discrete financial information
is available and segment management regularly reviews the operating results of that component. Our do-
mestic and international companents are “reporting units” within the operating segment “Core Business”.

To evaluate whether gooedwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to which
the goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit's carrying amount, inctuding goodwill. We determine the
fair value of each reporting unit using the present value of their expected future cash flows. If the car-
rying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the amount of the impairment loss must be
measured. The impairment loss would be calculated by comparing the implied fair value of reporting unit
goodwill to its carrying amaunt. In calculating the implied fair vatue of the reporting unit's goodwill, the
fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to atl of the other assets and liabilities of that unit based on their
fair values. The excess of the fair value of a reporting unit over the amount assigned to its other assets and
liabilities is the implied fair value of goadwill. An impairment toss would be recognized when the carrying
amaount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value,

We conducted annual impairment reviews as of December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004. Based on the anal-
ysis performed we determined that the fair value exceeded its carrying amount, and therefore concluded
that there was no indication of an impairment loss.

During the fourth quarter of 2004 we purchased SimpleDevices far approximately $12.8 million in cash,
including direct acquisition costs, and a potential performance-based payment of our unregistered com-
mon stock, if certain future financial objectives were achieved.

As a result of the performance-based incentive and other factors, our chief operating decision maker
["CODM"] reviewed SimpleDevices' discrete operating results through the second quarter of 2006, and
SimpleDevices was defined as an “operating segment™ and a “reporting unit” as well.

Effective at the end of second quarter 2006, we completed our integration of SimpleDevices’ technolo-
gies with our existing technologies, merged SimpleDevices’ sales, engineering and administrative func-
tions into our “domestic” reparting unit, and the performance-based payment related to the acquisition
expired. Commencing in the third quarter of 2006, our CODM no longer reviews SimpleDevices’ financial
statements on a stand alone basis. As a result of these activities, SimpleDevices became part of the "do-
mestic” reporting unit within our single operating segment.

Incame Taxes: Income tax expense includes U.5. and international income taxes. We account for income
taxes using the liability method. We record deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities on our balance
sheet for expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in different periods for
financial statement purposes versus tax return purposes using enacted tax rates that will be in effect
when Lhese differences reverse. We record a valuation allowance to reduce net deferred tax assets if we
determine that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A current tax
asset or liability is recognized for the estimated taxes refundable or payable for the current year. We also
make esiimates for uncertain tax provisions and record reserves, if necessary, under SFAS 5, Accounting
for Contingencies.
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Capitalized Software Costs: We account for software development costs in accordance with SFAS No. 85,
Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. Costs incurred
internally while creating a computer software product are expensed when incurred as research and de-
velopment until technological feasibility bas been established. The Company has determined that tech-
nological feasibility for its products is established when a working model is complete. Once technological
feasibility is established, software costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to
customers and is then amortized using the greater of (il the ratio that current gross revenues for a product
bear to the total current and anticipated future gross revenues or [ii) the straight-line method over the re-
maining estimated economic life of the product. Software development costs consist primarily of salaries,
emptoyee benefits, supplies and materials. The straight-line amortization periods for capitalized software
costs range from 2 to 5 years,

Capitalized software costs are stated at cost net of accumulated amortizaticn. Unamortized capital-
ized software costs were $0.1 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2006 and 2008, respectively. We
capitalized $0, $0, and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
Amortization expense related to capitalized software costs was $0.3 million, $0.3 million, and $0.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively [See Notes to Consolidated Financial
Staterments-Naote 3).

Research and Development: We account for research and develepment costs in accordance with SFAS No. 2,
Accounting for Research and Developrment Costs. As such, research and development costs are expensed as
incurred and consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, suppl es and materials.

Advertising: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $2.2 million, $1.5 mil-
lion and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

|

| Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs: In September 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF

| 00-10, Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs. EITF 00-10 requires shipping and handling fees
| bilted to customers to be classified as revenue and shipping and hardling costs to be either classified as

| cost of sales or disclosed in the notes to the financial staternents if classified elsewhere in the income

| statement. We include shipging and handling fees billed to customers in net sales. Shipping and handling
costs associated with in-baund freight are recorded in cost of goeds sold. Other shipping and handling
costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses and totaled $7.0 million, $6.3 miltion
and $5.0 million {or the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Oerivatives: Qur foreign currency exposures are primarily concentrated in the Euro and British Pound.
Depending on the predictability of future receivables, payables and cash flows in each operating currency,
we periodically enter into foreign currency exchange contracts with terms normally lasting less than nine
maonths to protect against the adverse effects that exchange-rate fluctuations may have an our foreign
currency-denominated receivables, payables and cash flows. We do not enter into financial instruments
for speculation or trading purposes. These derivatives have not qualified for hedge accounting. The gains
and tosses on both the derivatives and the foreign currency-denominated balances are recorded as for-
eign exchange transaction gains or losses and are classified in othe~ [expense] inceme, net. Derivatives
are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The estimated fair value of derivative financial instrumenis
represents the amount required to enter into similar offsetting contracts with similar remaining maturities
based on quoted market prices.
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We held foreign currency exchange contracts which resulted in a net pre-tax loss of approximately $97
thousand for the year ended December 31, 2006, a net pre-tax loss of approximately $409 thousand for
the year ended Gecember 31, 2005 and a gain of approximately $5 thousand for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2004, We had two foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding at December 31, 20046, Xnown
as participating forwards, both with a notional value of $6.25 million each. We had twe foreign currency
exchange contracts outstanding at December 31, 2005, a forward contract with a noticnal value of $11.0
million that settled on January 20, 2004, and a participating forward with a notional vaiue of $25.0 million
that settled on January 3, 2006.

In April 2006, we entered into a USD/Eure and a USD/GBP participating forward with 50% participatien
rates and notional values of $4.25 million each. The strike prices of the participating forwards are $1.1845
[USD/Euro] and $1.6900 [USD/GBPI. Both contracts settled on January 3, 2007. The loss on the participat-
ing forward contracts was approximately ($0.é] million at December 31, 2006, which is included in other
accrued expenses. At December 31, 2005, we had a participating forward contract with a notional value of
$25 million. We recognized a gain of $1.1 million on the aforementioned contract, which was recorded in
prepaids and other current assets as of December 31, 2005. Additicnally, at December 31, 2005, we held
a USD/Euro forward contract with a notional value of $11.0 million. We recognized a gain of $93 thousand
on the aforementioned contract, which was included in prepaid expenses and other current assets as of
December 31, 2005.

Stock-Based Compensation: Effective January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ["SFAS”} No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment ['SFAS 123R")
using the modified-prospective transition method. Under this transition method, compensation expense
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes: lal compensation expense for all share-based
awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January i, 2006 based on the grant date fair value esti-
mated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 and [b] compensation expense for all share-
based awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Results for prior periods have not been restated. We rec-
ognize such compensation expense, net of estimated farfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the service
period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of three to four years. Prior to January 1,
2006, we accounted for options granted under our plans using the intrinsic value method under Accounting
Principles Board ["APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, ['APB 257] and related
interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation ["SFAS 1237). In
March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission [the "SECT] issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107
("SAB 107") regarding the SEC's interpretation of SFAS 123R and the valuation of share-based compensa-
tion far public companies. We have apptied the provisions of SAB 107 to our adoption of SFAS 123R.

We use the Black Scholes option pricing model to measure the stock-based compensation expense.
The assumptions used in the Black Scholes model includes the following: weighted average fair value of
grant, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and expected life in years.

New Accounting Pranouncements: [n September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108
("SAB 108°), Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current
Year Financial Statements. In SAB 108, the SEC provides guidance on considering the effects of prior year
misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of materiality assessment. SAB
108 is effective for the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 had no
effect on our consolidated financiat position, resutts of operations or cash flows.
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in September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements {"SFAS 157), which defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles
[GAAP], and expands disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and liabilities. SFAS 157 ap-
plies when other accounting pronouncements require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at
fair value, Accordingly, SFAS 157 does not reguire new fair vatue measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after Novernber 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of
SFAS 157 will have on our canselidated results of operations and financial condition,

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes- an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. Interpretation 48, which clarifies
Statement 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, establishes the criterion that an individual tax pesition has to
meet far some or all of the benefits of that position te be recognized in the Company’s financial statements.
On initial application, Interpretation 48 will be applied to all tax positions for which the statute of limitations
remains open. Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the adoption
date will be recognized or continue to be recognized, The cumulative effect of applying Interpretation 48 will
be reported as an adjustment to retained earnings at the beginning cf the period in which it is adopted.

Interpretation 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, and will be adoptec by
us on January 1, 2007. We have not been able to complete our evaluatien of the impact of adopting fnter-
pretation 48 and as a result, are not able to estimate the effect the adoption will have on our financial posi-
tion and results of operations, including our ability to comply with current debt covenants.

In March 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the FASB issued EITF No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected
from Custemers and Remitted to the Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Incame Statement
{That is Gross versus Net Presentation). EITF 06-3 provides guidance on the presentation of taxes remitted
to governmental authorities on the income statement. The Task Force reached the conclusion that the
presentation of taxes on either a gross linciuded in revenue and costs} or a net [excluded from revenues]
basis is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed pursuant to APB Opinion No. 22, Disclosures
of Accounting Policies, Any such taxes that are reported on a gross basis should be disclosed if amounts
are significant. EITF 04-3 is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2006, We record revenue net
of sales tax and VAT. At the time we record revenue, sales tax and VAT charged to customers are recorded
as a liability in other accrued expenses. The liability is reduced when the sales tax or VAT is remitted to the
lecal government.

NOTE 3 -+ Goodwill and Intangibie Assets

Under the requirements of SFAS 142, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, the unit of accounting for goodwill is at
a level of reporting referred to as a “reporting unit.” SFAS 142 defines a reporting unit as either {1] an oper-
ating segment - as defined in SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Infermation
or [2) ane level below an operating segment - referred to as a component, Our domestic and international
compenents are “reporting units” within our one operating segmen! "Core Business.” Goodwill is reviewed
for impairment during the fourth quarter of each year. Goodwill of a reporting unit is tested for impairment
between annual tests, if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce
the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amaunt.
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During the fourth quarter of 2004 we purchased SimpleDevices for approximately $12.8 million in cash,
including direct acquisition costs, and a potential performance-based payment of our unregistered com-
mon stock, if certain future financial objectives were achieved.

As a result of the performance-based incentive and other factors, our chief operating decision maker
[("CODM") reviewed SimpleDevices’ discrete operating results through the second quarter of 2006, and
SimpleDevices was defined as an "operating segment” and a “reporting unit” as well.

Effective at the end of secand quarter 2006, we completed our integration of SimpleDevices technalo-
gies with our existing technologies, merged SimpleDevices’ sales, engineering and administrative func-
tions into our "domestic” reporting unit, and the perfermance-based payment related to the acquisition
expired. In addition our CODM no longer reviews SimpleDevices' financial statements on a stand alone
basis, commencing in the third quarter of 2006. As a result of these activities, SimpleDevices became part
of the "domestic” reporting unit within our single operating segment.

Goodwill for the demestic operations was generated from the acquisition of a remote control company
in 1998 and the acquisition of a software and firmware solutions company, SimpleDevices, in 2004, Good-
will for international operations resulted from the acquisition of remote control distributors in the UK in
1998, Spain in 1999 and France in 2000.

Goodwill infermation for domestic and international components is as foltows:
DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005

Goodwill
Domestic $ 8,314 $ 8,314
Internationall® 2,330 2,117
Total Goodwill § 10,644 $ 10,931

"M The tifference in international gocdwill reported at December 33, 2006, as compared to the goodwitl reported at Gecemnber 31, 2005, was the
result of fluetuations 10 the foreign currency exchange rates used to transtate the balance inta U.S. dellars.

Besides goodwill, sur intangible assets consist principally of distribution rights, patents, trademarks,
purchased technologies and capitalized software costs. Capitalized amounts related to patents represent
external legal costs for the application and maintenance of patents. Intangible assets are amortized using
the straight-line method aver their estimated period of benefit, ranging from two to ten years.
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Information regarding our intangible assets at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are listed below:

DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005
Carrying amount:
Distribution rights (10 yearsl $ 379 5 340
Patents (10 years) 5,605 4,726
Trademark.and trade names {10 years| 840 885
Developed and core technotogy (5 years) 2,410 2,410
Capilalized software [2 years) 898 B98
Other §5-7 years| 370 372
Total carrying amount $ 10,502 § 9,631
Accumulated amaortization:
Distribution rights $ 50 ] 45
Patents | 2,22 1,816
Trademark and trade names 189 118
Developed and core technology 1,475 993
Capitalized software 813 559
Other 167 93
Total accumulated amortization $ 4,915 $ 3,624
Net carrying amount:
Distribution rights 3 328 $ 295
Patents 3,384 2,910
Trademark and trade names 651 767
Developed and core technology 935 1,417
Capitalized software 85 338
Other 203 278
Total net carrying amount $ 5,587 4 6,007

Ameortization expense, including the amortization of capitalized software, which is recorded to cost of
sales, for 2006, 2005, and 2004 was approximately $1.5 million, $1.4 million, and $0.9 million, respectively.
Estimated amortization expense for existing intangible assets and capitalized software for each of the five
succeeding years ending December 31 and thereafter are as follows:

2007 $ 1,253
2008 . 1,129
2009 1,029
2010 729
201 647
Thereafter 800
$ 5,587

The weighted average amortization period of intangible assets 15 B.5years.
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NOTE 4 -+ Actcounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consisted of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:
BECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005
Trade receivable, gross $ 55,726 $ 45,732

Note receivable! . 200 —_
Other 437 —
Allewance for doubtful accounts (2,602} (2,2986)
Allowance for sales returns (1,894) (1,578)
Accounts receivable, net $ 51,867 $ 41,861

Win Aprit 1999, we provided a non-recourse interest bearing secured loan to our chief executive officer. The note is due by December 15, 2007 and
has been classified as a current asset. [See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-Nale 20).

M Other receivable as of December 31, 2004, censisted primarity ef a tenant improvernent allowance prowided by our landlord for the rencvation and
expansion of our corporate headquarters in Cypress, California. Construction will begin in 2007, and completion is expected to occur by the end of
2007. The tenant improvement allowance will be paid upon completion of construction.

Sales Returns: We record a provision for estimated sales returns and allowances on product sales in the

same peried as the related revenues are recorded. These estimates are based on historical sales returns,

analysis of credit memo data and other known factors. The provision recorded for estimated sales returns
and allowances is deducted from gross sates to arrive at net sales in the period the related revenue is
recorded. Sales allowances reduce gross accounts receivable to arrive at accounts receivable, netin

the same period the related receivable is recorded. Qur contractual sales return periods range up to six

menths. We have no other obligations after delivery of our praducts other than the associated warranties.

Allowance far Doubtful Accounts: Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do
not bear interest. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of losses resulting from the in-
ability of our custamers to make their required payments. We matntain an allowance for doubtful accounts
based on a variety of factors, including historical experience, length of time receivables are past due, cur-
rent economic trends and changes in customer payment behavior. Also, we record specific provisions for
individual accounts when we become aware of a customer's inability to meet its financial obligations to us,
such as in the case cof bankruptcy filings or deterieraticn in the customer’s operating results or financial
position. If circumstances related to a customer change, our estimates of the recoverabiity of the receiv-
ables would be further adjusted, either upward or downward.

The following changes occurred in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

ADDITIONS

BALANCE AT CHARGED TO
BEGINNING COSTS AND FX EFFECT / BALANCE AT
{IN THOUSANDS) OF PERIGD EXPENSES (WRITE-OFFS) END OF PERIOD
Year Ended December 31, 2006 $ 2,296 $ 210 S 86 $ 2,602
Year Ended December 31, 2005 $ 1,130 § 2,121 $ {955) $ 2,296
Year Ended December 31, 2004 $ 2,565 $ 161 $ (1,596) $ 1,130
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NOTE 5 -3 Inventories

Inventory, net consisted of the foilowing at Decemnber 31, 2006 and 2005:
DECEMBER 31,

IH THOUSANDS 2005 2005
Components $ 6,101 $ 5508
Finished goods 22,537 23,474
Reserve for inventary obsolescence (2,179) (2,274)
Inventory, net $ 26,459 $ 26,708

During 2006, we recorded a charge to reduce cur finished good inventories by $0.4 millicn [$0.2 miltion
after tax) for an error in our standard cost as of December 31, 2005. We believe the amounts are not mate-
rial to the current or prior year.

NoTE B - Equipment, Furniture and Fixtures

Equipment, furniture and fixtures consisted of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:
DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005
Tooling $ 8538 $ 5977
Computer equipment 3,131 2,861
Software 1,858 1,027
Furniture and fixtures 1,459 1,322
Leasehold improvements 1,212 1,104
Machinery and equipment 728 1,250

16,926 13,541
Accumulated depreciation {11,027} (9,189)
Egquipment, furniture and fixtures, net $ 5,899 $ 4,352

Depreciation expense, including tooling depreciation, which is recorded in cost of goods sold, was $2.7
million, $2.3 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 7 - Revolving Credit Line

Effective August 31, 2006, we amenrded our original Credit Facitity with Comerica Bank ("Camerica”),
extending aur line of credit through August 31, 2009. The amended Credit Facility provides a $15 million
unsecured revolving credit agreement with Comerica for an additional three years. Under the Credit Facil-
ity, the interest payable is variable and is based on the bank’s cost of funds or the LIBOR rate pius a fixed
margin of 1.25%. The interest rate in effect as of December 31, 200¢ using the LIBOR Rate opticn plus a
tixed margin of 1.25% was 4.58%. We pay a commitment fee ranging from zero to a maximum rate of 1/4 of
1% per year on the unused partion of the credit line depending on the amount of cash investment retained
with Comerica during each quarier. At December 31, 2006, the commitment rate was 0.25%. Under the
terms of the Credit Facility, dividend payments are allowed for up to 100% of the prior fiscal year's net
income, to be paid within 90 days of the current period’s year end. We are subject to certain financial cov-
enants related to our net werth, gquick ratio, and net income. Amounts available for borrowing under the
Credit Facility are reduced by the outstanding balance of import letters of credit. As of December 31, 2006,
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we did net have any amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility or any outstanding import letters of
credit. Furthermore, as of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with all financial covenants required
by the Credit Facility.

Under the amended Credit Facility, we have authority to acquire up to an additional 2.0 million shares of our
common stock in the open market. From August 31, 2004, through December 31, 2006, we purchased 96,600
shares of gur common stack, leaving 1,903,400 shares available for purchase under the Credit Facility.

NOTE 8  Other Accrued Expenses

The components of other accrued expenses at Decermnber 31, 2006 and 2005 are listed below:
DECEMBER 30,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005
Accrued sales and VAT taxes § 1,444 $ 1,325 |
Acerued freight 1,346 1,041
Deferred revenue 841 762
Accrued advertising and marketing 558 566
Accrued warranties 416 414
Other 2,844 2,162
Other Accrued Expenses § 7449 $ 6,270

NOTE 9 Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist primarily of investments in cash and cash equivalents, accounts receiv-
able, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying value of these instruments approximate fair
value due to their short maturities.

note 10 Stockholders’ Equity

Fair Price Provisions and Other Anti-Talcover Measures: Qur Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as
amended, contains certain pravisions restricting business combinations wiih interested stockholders
under certain circumstances and imposing higher voting requirements for the approval of certain transac-
tions ("fair price” pravisions). Any of these provisions could deltay or prevent a change in control. The “fair
price” provisions require that holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of voting stock ap-
prove certain business cambinations and significant transactions with interested stockholders.

Treasury Stock: During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we repurchased 127,324, 356,285 and 494,998 shares of
common stock, respectively on the open market at a cost of $2.6 million, $6.1 million and $4.7 million,
respectively. These shares were recorded as shares held in treasury at cost. The shares will generally be
held by us for future use as management and the Board of Directors deem appropriate, including the com-
pensation of our outside directors. During 2006, 2005 and 2004 shares totaling 19,375, 20,000 and 9,077,
respectively, were issued to the ouiside directors.

Stock Awards to Outside Directors: On July 11, 2001, as compensation for the outside directors for the three
year period commencing July 1. 2001, we granted each director shares of our common stock with a fair
market value equivalent to approximately $278,833, based on the market price on the date of grant. These
shares were recorded in a separate component of steckholders’ equity and were amortized over their
three-year vesting period. Each calendar quarter, 1/12 of the total stock award vested and the shares were
distributed provided the director served the entire calendar quarter term. Amortization expense amaounted
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to $42,012 in 2004. The stock awards to the directors were fully amortized as of June 30, 2004.

On July 1, 2004, as compensation for the outside directors for the ene year period commencing July 1,
2004, we granted each director 5,000 shares of our common stock with an aggregate fair market value of
approximately $348,523, based on the market price on the date of grant. On July 30, 2004, we filed an 5-8
Registration Statement cavering all of the shares issued under this plan. These shares were recorded in a
separate component of stackholders” equity and were amartized over their 1-year vesting period. Each cal-
endar quarter, 1/4 of the total steck award vested and the shares were distributed. Amortization expense
amounted to $168,700 and $179.822 in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The stock awards to the directors were
fulty amortized as of June 30, 2005.

On July 1, 2005, as compensation for the outside directors for the one year pericd commencing July 1,
2005, we granted each director 5,000 shares of cur common stock with an aggregate fair market value of
approximately $325.800, based on the market price on the date of grant. These shares have been recorded
in a separate component of stockholders’ equity and are being amortized over their 1-year vesting period.
Each calendar quarter, /4 of ihe total stock award will vest and the shares will be d stributed provided
the director has served the entire calendar quarter term. Amortization expense amounted to $162,900 and
$162,900 in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

On July 1, 2006, as compensation for the outside directors for the ane year period commencing July 1.
2006, we granted three directors 5,000 shares of our common stock each, with an aggregate fair market
value of approximately $272.100, based on the market price on the date of grant, This cost is being amor-
tized aver their 1-year vesting peried. Each calendar quarter, 1/4 of the total stock award will vest and the
shares will be distributed provided the director has served the entire calendar quarter term. Amortization
expense for shares granted on July 1, 2006 amounted te $136,050 in 2006. On August 14, 2006 an additional
outside director joined our Board of Directors. We granted him 4,375 shares of our common stock, with a
fair market value of approximately $79.406, based on the market price on the date of grant, which is being
amortized ratably over 10.5 months through June 30, 2007. On October 23, 2004, an additional outside
director joined our Board of Directors. We granted him 3,438 shares of our common stack, with a fair
market value of approximately $72.679, hased on the market price on the date of grant, which is also being
amortized ratably through June 30, 2007. Amortization expense related to shares granted on August 14,
2004 and October 23, 2004, is $34,031 and $19.829, respectively. The total amortization expense related to
shares granted to our Board of Directors was $352,810 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

noTE 11 - Stock Options

Stock-based compensation expense: At Dacember 31, 2006, we have the stock-based employee compensa-
tion plans described below. The total compensation expense before taxes related to these plans was $2.8
million in fiscat 2006. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for options granted under our plans using the
intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board ["APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Is-
sued to Employees, ["APB 25°]. Under the intrinsic-value based method of APB 25, compensation cast is the
excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at the grant date over the amount an employee must
pay to acquire the stock, We grant options with an exercise price equal to the market value of the common
stack on the date of grant; therefore, no compensation expense was recognized related to those options for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
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Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ["SFAS") No. 123([R], Share-Based Payment ["SFAS 123R") using the modified-pro-
spective transition method. Under this transition method, compensation expense recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2006 includes: [al compensation expense for atl share-based awards granted prior to,
but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the
original provisions of SFAS 123 and (bl compensation expense for all share-based awards granted subse-
quent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS 123R. We recognize such compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures over the service
period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of three to four years. We estimated the an-
nual forfeiture rate for our executives and board of directors group and non-executive employees group to
be 2.41% and 5.95%, respectively, as of December 37, 2006, based on histerical experience.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the impact to the Consolidated Financial Statements for income be-
fore income taxes and net income for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2006 was $2.8 million and $1.8 million
lower, respectively, than if we had continued to account for stock-hased compensation under APB 25. The
impact on both basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $0.13 and
$£0.12 per share, respectively. In addition, prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we presented the tax benefit
of stock option exercises as operating cash flows. Upon the adoption of SFAS 123R, tax benefits result-
ing from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recegnized for those options are classified as
financing cash flows. In the year ended December 31, 2004, approximately $275 thousand of tax benefits
resulted from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we provided pro forma disclosures in accordance with SFAS No. 148, Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, as if the fair value method had been adopted as
defined by SFAS 123. Under SFAS 123, compensation expense is computed based on the fair value of the
stock options granted and is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide
service in exchange for the award. The fair value of the options granted was determined at the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

SFAS 123R regquires that we continue to provide the pro forma disciosures required by SFAS 123 for
all periods presented in which share-based payments to employees are accounted for under APB 25. The
following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share as of December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004, respectively, as if we applied the {air value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to
share-based employee compensation.

ODECEMBER 21,
IN THOUSANDS, EXCERT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 2005 2004
Net income as reported $ 9,701 $ 94
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income, net of related tax eifects 268 147
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under the fair vatue based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (2,792) (2,374)
Pro forma net income § 7177 § 6,887
Basic earnings per share:
As reported $ 072 $ 067
Proforma $ 053 $ 051
Diluted earnings per share:
As reported $ 068 $ 0.5
Pro forma } 0.51 § 049
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Stock-based compensation expense is presented in the same inceme statement line as cash compen-
sation paid to the same employees or directors. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded
$3.1 million in pre-tax stock-based compensation expense. Included in SG&A stock-based compensation
expense is $0.3 million in pre-tax stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock.

The stock-based compensation expense was attributabte to the following:
DECEMAER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006
Cost of sales $ 26
Research and development 370
Selling, general and administrative 2,721
Total stock-based compensation expense before ingome taxes $ 3z

The total amount of compensation expense retated to non-vested awards not yet recognized as of Decem-
ber 31, 2006 was $4.0 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average life of 2.0 years.

In light of the new accounting guidance under SFAS 123R, beginning in the first quarter of 2006, we
re-evaluated the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted to employees in 2006. As
part of this assessment, management determined that historical velatility calculated based on our actively
traded common stock is a better indicator of expected volatility and future stock price trends than implied
volatility. Therefore, we continued to use historical volatility to determine expected volatility. We calcu-
late expected volatility using historical velatility of our common stock over a period of time equal to the
expected term of the stock option,

As part of SFAS 123R adoption, we examined the histarical pattern of option exercises in an effort to
determine if there were any discernable activity patterns based on certain employee classifications, From
this analysis, we identified two employee classifications: [1) Executive and Board of Directors and (2] Non-
Executives, We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the options for each of the employee
classifications. The table below presents the weighted average expected life in years. The expected life
computation is based on historical exercise patterns and post-vesting behavior within each of the two
classifications identified. The interest rate for any period within the expected contractual life of the awards
is based on the prevailing U.S. Treasury note rate for the applicable expected term.

We also estimated the annual forfeiture rate for our executives & board of directors and non-executive
employees to be 2.41% and 5.95% as of December 31, 2006, respectively, based on historical experience.

The fair value of share-based payment awards was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
modet with the following assumptions and weighted average fair values:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,19

2006 2005 2004
Weighted average {air value of grants $ 750 $ 9.28 1 7.94
Risk-free interest rate 4.72% 3.73% 3.01%
Expected volatility 39.27% 58.35% 65.51%
Expected life inyears 4.89 5.00 5,00

1" The fair value calculation was based on steck options granted during the respective period During the year ended December 31, 2005, we granted
30,000 steck options Lo an executive employee and 14,000 stock optiens to non-executive emplayees.
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The following is a summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:

WEIGHTED -
WEIGHTED - AVERAGE AGGREGATE
NUMBER OF AVERAGE REMAINING INTRINSIC
CPTIONS EXERCISE CONTRACTUAL VALUE
{IN 000°5) PRICE TERM [IN YEARS) {IN 0D0"5}
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 3,151 $ 13.70
Granted 46 18.15
Exercised (550} 13.58 $ 3036
Forfeited/cancelled/ expired (167} 16.08
Qutstanding at December 31, 2006 2,480 5 13.73 5.51 $ 18,096
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2004 2,41 $ 13.64 5.43 $ 17,783
Exercisable at December 3%, 2006 1,848 $ 12.91 467 $ 14994

During 2006, comman stack options were medified due ta an employee’s death, resulting in 2,875 un-
vested stock options becoming fully vested. The incremental stock-based compensation expense resulting
from the modification was $13,401.

Cash received from aption exercises for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $7.5 million. The actual
tax benefit reatized from option exercises of the share-based payment awards was $0.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004.

The following is a summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

2005 2004
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
SHARES AVERAGE SHARES AVERAGE
(IN 000°'5) EXERCISE PRICE (/N 000°5) EXERCISE PRICE
Outstanding at beginning of year 3,039 $ 12.79 2,662 L] 12.32
Granted 631 17.40 702 13,94
Exercised (290) 9.89 (209) 9.10
Expired andfor forfeited (229) 15.33 (1186) 15.95
Outstanding at end of year 3,151 3 13.70 3,039 H 12.79
Options exercisable at year end 1,943 $ 12.94 1,828 H 12.58

During 2005, common stock options were modified {or two employees. One modification was partof a
severance agreement and the other modification resulted from an employee’s death. The total number of
options modified was 20,500, which resulted in new measurement dates. The difference between the ex-
ercise price and the fair value of the common stock on the new measurement dates for the options totaled
$73,863. As aresult, $73,8463 was charged to non-cash stock-based compensation.

During 2004, no common stock options were modified.
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Nonvested restricted stock awards as of December 31, 2006 and changes during 2006 were as follows:

WEIGHTED-

SHARES AVERAGE

GRANTED GRANT DATE

{IN 0OO°S) FAIR VALUE

Nonvested at December 31, 2005 10 s 16.29
Granted 23 18.59
Vested (20) 17.37
Forfeited - _
Nonvested at December 31, 2004 13 $ 18.74

The total amount of compensation expense related {o non-vested restricted awards not yet recognized
as of December 31, 2006 was $0.2 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average life
of 6 months,

STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS
1993 Stock Incentive Plan: On January 19, 1993, the 1993 Stock Incentive Plan [71993 Plan”) was approved.
Under the 1993 Plan, 400,000 shares of cornmon stock are reserved for the granting of incentive and
other stock options o officers, key employees and non-affiliated directars. The 1993 Plan provided for the
granting of incentive and other stock options through January 18, 2003. All options outstanding at the time
of termination of the 1993 Plan shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. The
option price for incentive stock options and non-quatified stock options will not be tess than the fair market
value at the date of grani. The Compensation Commititee determined when each option was to expire, but
no option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the option is granted. The 1993 Plan also
- provides far the award of stock appreciation rights subject to terms and conditions specified by the Com-
pensation Committee. No stock appreciation rights have been awarded under this 1793 Plan, There are no
remaining options available for grant under the 1993 Plan. There are 17,400 shares cutstanding under this
plan as of December 31, 2006.

1995 Stock Incentive Plan: On May 19, 1995, the 1995 Stack Incentive Plan (71995 Plan’| was approved.
Under the 1995 Plan, 800,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers,
employees and non-affiliated directors. The 1995 Plan provided for the issuance of stock optiens, stock
appreciation rights, performance stock units, or any cembination thereof through May 18, 2005, unless
otherwise terminated by resolution of our Board of Directors. The option prices for the stock options were
equal to the fair market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee shall determine when
each option is to expire, but no option shall be exercisahle more than ten years after the date the opticn is
granted. No stock appreciation rights or perfermance stock units have been awarded under this 1995 Plan.
There are no remaining options available for grant under the 1995 Plan. There are 72,000 shares outstand-
ing under this plan as of December 31, 2006.

1996 Stock Incentive Plan: On December 1. 1996, the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan ["1996 Plan"] was approved.
Under the 1994 Plan, 800,000 shares of common stock are available for distribution to our key officers and
employees. The 1996 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, perfor-
mance stock units, or any combination thereof through November 30, 2007, unless otherwise terminated
by the resolution of our Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options will be equal to the fair
market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee shall determine when each option is to
expire, but no option shall be exercisable more than ten years afier the date the option is granted. No stock
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appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 1996 Plan. There are na
remaining options available for grant under the 1996 Plan. There are 23,334 shares outstanding under this
plan as of December 31, 2004.

1998 Stock Incentive Plan: On May 27, 1998, the 1998 Stack Incentive Plan (71998 Plan"} was appraved.
Under the 1998 Plan, 430,000 shares of comman stock are available for distribution to our key officers and
employees. The 1998 Plan provides for the issuance of stock aptions, stock appreciation rights, perfor-
mance siock units, or any combination thereof through May 26, 2008, unless otherwise terminated by
resolution of our Board of Directars. The option price for the stock options wilt not be less than the fair
market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee shall determine when each option is to
expire, but no option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the option is granted. No stock
appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 1998 Plan. There are 1,500
remaining options available for grant under the 1998 Plan. There are 358,404 shares outstanding under
this plan as of December 31, 2006.

1999 Stock incentive Plan: On January 27, 1999, the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan ["1999 Plan") was approved.
Under the 1999 Plan, 430,000 shares of common stock are available for distribution to our key officers and
employees. The 1999 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, perfor-
mance stock units, or any combination thereof through January 26, 2009, unless otherwise terminated by
resolution of our Board of Directors. The option price for the stock optiens will not be less than the fair
market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee shall determine when each option is to
expire, but no option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the option is granted. No stock
appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 1999 Plan. There are 4,500
remaining options available for grant under the 1999 Plan. There are 146,444 shares outstanding under
this plan as of December 31, 2006,

19994 Stock Incentive Plan: On October 7. 1999, the 1999A Nonqualified Stock Plan ["1999A Plan”] was ap-
proved and on February 1, 2000, the 19994 Plan was amended. Under the 1999A Plan, 1,000,000 shares of
common stock are avaitable for distribution to our key officers and employees. The 19994 Plan provides
far the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units, ar any combination
thereof through October 6, 2009, unless otherwise terminated by resalution of our Board of Directors.

The optian price for the stock options will not be less than the fair market value at the date of grant. The
Compensation Committee shall determine when each option is to expire, but no option shall be exercis-
able more than ten years after the date the option is granted. No stack appreciation rights or performance
stock units have been awarded under this 19994 Plan. There are 45,562 remaining options available for
grant undar the 1999A Plan, There are 417,091 shares outstanding under this plan as of December 31, 2006.

2002 Stock Incentive Plan: On February 5, 2002, the 2002 Nonqualified Stock Plan (72002 Plan”] was ap-
proved. Under the 2002 Plan, 1,000,000 shares of commeon stock are available for distribution to our key
officers and employees. The 2002 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation
rights. performance stack units, or any combination thereof through February 4, 2012, unless other-
wise terminated by resolution of our Board of Direciors. The option price ior the stock aptions will not be
less than the fair market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee shall determine when
each option is to expire, but no option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the option
is granted. No stock appreciation rights or periormance stock units have been awarded under this 2002
Plan. There are 14,497 remaining options avaitable for grant under the 2002 Plan. There are 716,739
shares outstanding under this plan as of December 31, 2006.

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS 7007 ANKUAL REPORT 77




UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS FINANCIAL REVIEW

2003 Stock Incentive Plan: On June 18, 2003, the 2003 Nonqualified Stock Plan ["2003 Plan”) was approved.
Under the 2003 Ptan, 1,000,000 shares of common stock are available for distribution to our key offi-

cers and employees. The 2003 Ptan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance stock units, or any combination thereof through June 17, 2013, unless otherwise terminated
by resolution of our Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options will not be less than the

fair market value at the date of grant. The Campensation Committee shall determine when each option is
to expire, but no option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the option is granted. No
stock appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 2003 Plan. There are
196,938 remaining options available for grant under the 2003 Plan. There are 726,937 shares outstanding
under this plan as of Decernber 31, 2006.

2006 Stock Incentive Plan: On June 13, 2004, the 2006 Nonqualified Stock Plan ["2006 Plan”) was approved.
Under the 2006 Plan, 1,000,000 shares of common stock are available for distribution ta our key offi-

cers and employees. The 2006 Plan provides for the issuance of stock optians, stock appreciation rights,
perfermance stock units, or any combination thereof through June 12, 2016, unless otherwise terminated
by resclution of our Board of Directors. The aption price for the stock options will not be less than the

fair market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee shall determine when each option is
to expire, but no option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date the option is granted. No
stock options, stock appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 2006
Plan, There are 1,000,000 remaining options available for grant under the 2006 Plan. There are no shares
outstanding under this plan as of December 31, 2006.

Vesting periods {or the above referenced stock incentive plans range from three to four years.

It is our policy to retain our earnings to support the growth of the Company, Additionally, we may retain
earnings to repurchase shares of our common stock, when conditions are favorable.

Significant option groups outstanding at December 31, 2006 and the related weighted average exercise
price and life infarmation are listed below:

OPTIONS QUTSTANDING QGPTIONS EXERCISABLE
NUMBER NUMBER WEIGHTED-AYERAGE
OUTSTANDHNG WEIGHTED-AVERAGE WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXERCISANLE EXERCISE
AT 12/31/06 REMAINING YEARS OF EXERCISE AT 12/31/06 PRICE
RAMNGE OF EXERCISE PRICES (INDOQ'S) CONTRACTUALLIFE PRICE (INgDO'S) {INDOOD"S)
$ 347 tod 497 162 1.72 $ 4,95 162 $ 4.95
581 to 7.50 127 2. 7.25 127 7.25
8.45 to 983 347 5.89 8.58 346 B.67
1092 ta  13.08 573 5.38 11,94 407 11.68
1485 ta  22.06 1,271 6.29 17.67 806 17.83
$ 347 0§ 22,06 2,480 5.51 $§ 1373 1,848 $  12.%

noTe 12 - Significant Customers and Suppliers

Significant Customer; We had sales to one significant customer whe contributed mare than 10% of total
net sales. Sales made 1o this customer were $28.3 million, $22.2 million, and $17.5 million represent-
ing 12.0%. 12.2%, and 11.0% of our total net sales for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Trade receivables with this customer amounted to $3.1 miltion and $2.1 million or 5.9% and
5.1% of our lotal accounts receivable at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In addition, we had
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sales to a customer and its sub-contractors that, when combined, totated $41.6 million, $30.0 million, and
$16.4 million, accounting for 17.7%, 16.6%, and 10.4% of net sales for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. Trade receivables with this custemer and its sub-contractors amounted to
$6.2 million and $3.3 million. or 12.0% and 7.8%, of our total accounts receivable at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The future loss of these customers or any key customer, either in the United States or
abroad, due ta the financial weakness or bankrupicy of any such customer or our inability to obtain orders
or maintain our order volurme with our major customers, may have an adverse effect on our financial con-
dition, results of operations and cash flows.

Significant Suppliers: Most of the components used in our products are available from multiple sources.
We have elected to purchase integrated circuits ['IC”], used principally in our wireless control products,
from two main sources. Purchases from one supplier amounted to more than 10% of total inventory pur-
chases. Purchases from this major supplier amounted to $14.2 million, $9.2 million and $7.8, representing
10.5%, 8.8% and 8.6%, respectively, of total inventory purchases for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, Accounts payable with the aforementioned supplier amounted to $0.4 million and $1.1 mil-
lion, representing 2.0% and 4,7%, respectively, of total accounts payable at December 31, 2006 and 2005.
For the year ended December 2004, there was a different |C supplier who provided mare than 10% of total
inventory purchases. Purchases from that supplier amounted to $%.5 million or 10.5% of total inventory
purchases in 2004.

In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2006, we purchased component and finished good
products from three major suppliers. Purchases from these three majar suppliers amounted to0 $40.7 mil-
tion, $13.9 million and $13.8 million representing 30.0%, 10.2% and 10.2%, respectively, of total inventory
purchases for the year ended December 31, 2006. During the year ended December 31, 2005 purchases
from the same three suppliers amounted to $35.5 million, $8.4 million and $4.1 million representing
33.9%, 8.1% and 4.0%, respectively, of total inventory purchases. During the year ended December 31, 2004
inventory purchases fram the aforementioned three suppliers amounted to $25.6 million, $8.2 million and
$0 representing 28.2%, 9.1% and 0.0%, respectively.

Accounts payable with the aforementioned three suppliers of component and finished good products
amounted to $8.1 miilion, $0.7 million and $2.0 million respectively, representing 40.9%, 3.6% and 9.8% of
the total accounts payabla at December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2005, accounts payable with the same
suppliers amounted to $6.5 million, $1.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively, representing 28.5%, 8.3% and
6.2% of the tatal accounts payabte. There was no other component and finished goods supplier with inven-
tory purchases greater than ten percent of the total inventory purchases at December 2006, 2005 or 2004.

We have identified alternative sources of supply for these integrated circuits, components, and finished
goods; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain these inventory pur-
chases on a timely basis. We generally maintain inventeries of our integrated chips, which coutd be used
in part to mitigate, but not eliminate, delays resulting from supply interruptions. An extended interruption,
shortage or termination in the supply of any of the components used in our preducts, or a reduction in their
quality or retiability, or a significant increase in prices of components, would have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and cash flows. .
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NOTE 13 — Leases

We lease office and warehouse space and certain office equipment under operating leases that expire at
various dates through December 31, 2012. Some of our rental leases are subject to rent escalations. For
these leases, we straight-line our rent expense over the lease term, ranging iram 36 to 73 months, The
liability is recorded in other accrued expenses. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the liability related

to rent escalations was $51 thousand and $12 thousand, respectivety. Additionally, our corporate lease
agreement contains a provision for a tenant improvement allowance of $0.4 million for us to renovate

the building, which is to be paid to us upon comgpletion of the renovation. The renovation is expected to be
completed during 2007. We recorded the $0.4 million tenant improvement allowance in accounts receiv-
able at December 31, 20046. Additionally, the tenant improvement allowance was recorded as a component
of the lease liability in computing rent expense, and is amortized as a credit against rent expense, over 73
months, the term of the lease, beginning January 1, 2006.

Rent expense for our operating leases was $1.8 million, $1.7 million, and $1.8 million for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

; The following table summarizes future minimum non-cancelable operating lease payments with initial
terms greater than one year at December 31, 2006:
IN THOUSANDS AMOUNT

Year ending Decemnber 31:

2007 5 1,653
2008 1,283
2009 967
2010 872
2014 8os
Thereafter 682
Total aperating lease commitments $ 6,266

On January 31, 2007, we amended our existing lease agreement for our consumer and customer cail
center facility located in Twinsburg, Ohie, which resulted in the leased square footage increasing from
8,509 square feet to 21,509 sguare feet. The amended lease agreement is effective after the completion of
certain leasehold improvements, which are expected to occur in April 2007 [the "commencerment date”].
This lease agreement is effective for four years after the commencement date and is subject to rent esca-
lations each year. The total incremental operating lease payments from 2007 through 2011, based on the
expected commencement date, will be approximately $300 thousand.

NoTE 14 . Employee Benefit Plans

We maintain a retirement and profit sharing plan under Section 401(k] of the Internal Revenue Code for all
of our domestic employees that meet certain qualifications. Participanis in the plan may elect to contrib-
ute from 1% to 15% of their annual salary to the plan. We match 50% of the participants’ contributions in
the form of newly issued shares of our cormmon stock. We may also make other discretionary contribu-
tions to the plan. The expense recerded for company contributions during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 amounted to $0.9 million, $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
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NoTE 15 - Other (Expense) Income, net
“Other (expenselincome, net” in the Consolidated Income Statements consisted of the following:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005 2004
Net [loss) gain on foreign currency exchange transactions $ (508) H 2,107 $ (152}
Write-down of investment — (3) {357}
Other income [loss) 10 48 (31}
Other [expensel income, net 4 {498) 5 2,152 s {540)

NoTE 16 - Income Taxes
In 2006, 2005, and 2004, pre-tax income was attributed to the following jurisdictions:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005 2004
Domestic operations $ 7,932 $ 6,206 s 4,488
Foreign operations 11,488 8,468 9,235

Total $ 19,420 1 14,674 s 13,723

The provision for incorne taxes charged to operations was as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 3¢,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005 2004
Current tax expense:
U.S. federal $ 2,934 S 1,382 b 2,572
State and local 687 280 216
Foreign 2,997 3,3n 1,515
Total current 6,618 4,973 4,303
Deferred tax expense/[benefit):
U.5. federal (297} 460 564
State and local {578) (363) (200)
Fereign 157 (37} {58)
Tetal deferred (718) — 306
Total provision $ 5,900 $ 4,973 $ 4,609
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Net deferred tax assets were comprised of the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

IN THQUSANDS

Deferred tax assets:
Inventary reserves
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Capitalized research costs

Capitatized inventory costs

Net operating losses

Amortization of intangibles

Accrued liabilities
Income tax credits

Depreciation

Stock based compensation

Other

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liability:
Intangible assets

Cther

Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferved tax assets before valuation allowance
Less: Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax assels

2006

s 448
46

581

470

4,480

639

1,103
1,072

434

890

196

$ 10,359

(688)

(255)

(943)

9,416

(620)

$ 8,796

3

2005

514
59
885
727
4,798
545
837
748
338
285
9,836

(925}

(193)
(1,118}
8,718

(620)
8,098

As of December 31, 2006, $235 thousand of current deferred tax liability was recorded in other accrued

expenses,

There was no change in the deferred tax valuation allowance in 2006 compared to an increase of $0.1

million and $0.4 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the appli-
cable U.S. statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax income from operations as a result of the following:
The provision for income taxes charged to operations was as follows:

IN THOUSANDS

Tax provision at statutery U.S. rate

Increase [decreasel in tax provision resulting from:
State and local taxes, net

Fareign tax rate differential
Nondeduciible items

in-process R&D

Federal valuation allowance

Federal research and development credits

Other

Tax provisicn

2006
6,603

110
(391)
207

(872)
243
5,900

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2005
$ 4,989

(83)

335

50

1

(601)

282

$ 4,973

$

2004
4,666

236
184
34

82
122
{(521)
(194)
4,609
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During 2004, pursuant to our purchase of SimpleDevices, pretax boak income reflects the write-off of
IPR&D expenditures and amortization of certain acquired intangibles. The tax effects of intangibles, other
than goodwill, are included in deferred tax lisbilities. In connection with the acquisition, we established a
$1.1 million deferred tax liability, and a $5.6 miilion deferred tax asset. The net result was an increase to
goodwill of $4.5 million.

At December 31, 2004, we had state Research and Experimentation ["R&E") income tax credit carryfor-
wards of approximately $1.1 miltion. The state R&E income tax credits do net have an expiration date.

At December 31, 2006, we had federal, state and foreign net operating losses of approximately $8.6
million, $9.3 million and $3.1 millian, respectively. All of the federal and state net cperating loss carryfor-
wards were acquired as part of the acquisition of SimpleDevices. The federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards begin to expire in 2020 and 2011, respectively. Approximately $1.2 million of the foreign net
operating losses begin ta expire in 2007, approximately $0.3 million expire in 2020 and the remaining $1.4
million of foreign net operating losses have an unlimited carryforward. At December 31, 2004, a valuation
allowance of approximately $0.5 million has been provided on certain foreign net operating losses.

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places certain limitations an the annual amount of net operating
loss carryforwards that can be utilized if certain changes to a company's ownership occur. Our acquisition
of SimpleDevices was a change in ownership pursuant te Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, and
the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of SimpleDevices [approximataly $8.6 million and
$9.3 millicn, respectively) are limited but considered realizable in future periods. The annual limitation is
as follows: approximately $1.3 million for 2004 through 2008 and approximately $0.6 million thereafter.

As of December 31, 2006, we believed it was more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets re-
lated ta the impairment of the investment in a private company {a capital asset] would not be realized due
to uncertainties as to the timing and amounts of future capital gains. Accerdingly, a valuation allowance
of approximately $0.1 million was recorded as of December 31, 2004 [See Notes to Cansolidated Financial
Statements-Note 2).

During the years ended Becember 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 we recognized a credit to additional paid-in
capitat and a reduction to income taxes payable of $0.8 million, $0.9 million, and $0.5 millicn, respectively,
related to the tax benefit from the exercises of non-qualified steck options under cur stock option plans.

The undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested.
Accordingly, no provision for US federal and state income taxes or foreign withholding taxes has been pro-
vided on such undistributed earnings. Determination of the potential amount of unrecognized deferred US
income tax liability and foreign withhotding taxes is not practicable beczuse of the complexities associated
with its hypothetical catculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax credits would be available to reduce
some portion of the U.S. liability.

During 2006, the Internal Revenue Service ["IRS"] completed its audit of the December 31, 2002 and
2003 tax years which resulted in an increase to our 2006 tax provision of approximately $C.1 million. We
alse concluded our appeal with the California Franchise Tax Board ["FTB") for the years ended December
31,1999 and 2000 which resulted in an immaterial adjustment to our 2006 tax provision.

noTe 17 - Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common steckholders by the
weighted average number of our common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
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share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive
potential cammon shares, which inctudes the dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock grants.
Dilutive potential common shares for all the periods presented are computed utilizing the treasury stock
method. In the computation of diluted earnings per common share far the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, appreximately 5,333, 999,506 and 988,250 stock options, respectively, with exercise prices
greater than the average market price of the underlying common slock, were excluded because their
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

tarnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were calculated as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMRBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS, EXCEFT SHARE-RELATED AMOUNTS 2305 2005 2004
Basic

Met Inceme $ 13,520 $ 9,701 $ 9,114
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 13,818 13,462 13,567
Basic earnings per share $ 0.98 $ 0.72 $ 0.67
Diluted .
Net Income $ 13,520 $ 9,701 $ 9,114
Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic 13,818 13,462 13,567
Dilutive effect of stack options and restricted stock 614 530 533
Weighted-average common shares outstanding on a diluted basis 14,432 13,992 14,100
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.94 $ 0.69 $ 0.65

NoTE 18 -z Business Segment

industry Segment: SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, defines
an operating segment, in part, as a component af an enterprise whose operating results are regularty
reviewed by the chiel operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the
segment and assess its performance. Operating segments may he aggregated only to the limited extent
permitted by the standard.

As a result of the performance-based incentive and other factors, management reviewed SimpleDev-
ices discrete operating results through the second quarter of 2004, and as a result, defined SimpleDevices
as a separate segment, Since acquiring SimpleDevices, we have integrated SimpleDevices’ technologies
with and into our own technology. In addition, we have integrated SimpleDevices’ sales, engineering and
administrative functions into our own. As a result of the integration, the performance-based payment
expiring and our chief operating decision maker ["'CODM”) no longer reviewing SimpleDevices financial
statements on a stand alone basis, commencing in the third quarter of 2006, we merged SimpleDevices
into our Core Business segment, resulting in us operating in a single industry segment.
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noTe 19 - Foreign Operations

Geographic Information: Qur sales to external customers and long-lived tangible assets by geographic area
for years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are presented below:

YEAR ENDED OECEMBER 31,

IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005 2004
Net sates
United States $ 126,522 $ 95,252 4 75,121
international:
United Kingdem 29,025 22,977 26,395
Asia 30,285 18,773 9,068
South Africa 8,140 3,685 1,793
Spain 7,513 6,484 10,535
Germany 7,014 7,357 8,620
France 4,846 5,852 7,021
Australia 3,028 2,678 2,217
Italy 1,799 1,026 682
Switzerland 851 4,689 3,194
All Other 16,823 12,576 13,734
Total International 109,324 86,097 83,258
Total Net Sales $ 235,846 $ 181,349 $ 158,380
DECEMBER 313,
IN THOUSANDS 2006 2005 2004
Long-Lived Assets
United States s 3,921 } 3,137 $ 2,956
Atl Other countries 2,199 1,618 3,71
$ 6,120 } 4,755 $ 6,667

Specilic identification was the basis used for attributing revenues from external customers to individual
countries.

nove 20 - Related Party Transactions

In April 1999, we provided a non-recourse interest bearing secured loan to our chief executive officer. The
loan in the amount of $200,000 bears interest at the rate of 5.28% per annum, with interest payable annu-
ally to us on each December 15th. The loan is collateralized by the primary residence purchased and the
principal is payable on the earlier of li] December 15, 2007, [iil within twelve months fotlowing a demand
from us but only in the event the executive officer ceases being our employee or in the event of a default
under the {oan; or i) on the closing of a sale or transfer of the property. This related party note receivable
is included in accounts receivable on our balance sheet at December 31, 2004 and included in other assets
on our balance sheet at December 31, 2005.

NoTE 21 Contingencies

Product Warranties: We warrant our products against defects in materials and workmanship arising during
normal use. We service warranty claims directly through our customer service department or contracted
third-party warranty repair facilities. Our warranty period ranges up to three years. We provide for es-
timated product warranty expenses, which are included in cost of goods sold, as revenue is recognized.
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Because warranty expense is a forecast based on the best available infermation, mostly historical claims
experience, actual claim ¢costs may differ from the amounts previded. The change in the liability for prod-
uct warranties is presented below [in thousands):

ACCRUALS FOR SETTLEMENTS

BALANCE AT WARRANTIES {(IN CASH OR IN BALANCE AT

BEGINNING OF ISSUED DURING KIND} DURING END OF

DESCRIPTION FERIOD THE PERIODG THE FERIOD PERIOD
Year Ended December 31, 2006 s 414 $ 202 $ (o0} $ 416
Year Ended December 31, 2005 S 183 L1 443 $  (212) $ 414
Year Ended December 31, 2004 L 95 S 285 $ (197 4 183

In 2006, the warranty accrual rermained consistent with the prior year, despite an increase in sales
volume, due to the per unit warranty cost decreasing by approximately 13%.

Litigation: In 2002, one of our subsidiaries (One For AlL5.A.S.) braught an action against a former distribu-
tor of the subsidiary’s products seeking a recovery of accounts receivable. The distributor filed a coun-
terclaim against our subsidiary seeking payment for amounts allegedly owed for administrative and other
services rendered by the distributor for our subsidiary. In January 2005, the parties agreed to include in
that action all claims between the distributor and two of our other subsidiaries, Universal Electronics

BV ["UEBV") and One For All Iberia SL; as a result, the single action covers all claims and counterciaims
beiween the various parties. The parties further agreed that, before any judgment i= paid. all disputes
between the various parties would be concluded. These additional ctaims involve nonpayment for products
and damages resulting from the alleged wrongful termination of agency agreements. On March 15, 2005,
the court in one of the litigation matters brought by the distributor against one of our subsidiaries, ren-
dered judgment against the subsidiary and awarded damages and <osts to the distributorin the amount

of approximately $102,000. The amount of this judgment was charged to operations during the second
quarter of 2005 and has been paid. With respect to the remaining matters before the court. the parties met
with the court appointed expert in December 2006 and at that time, the expert again asked the court for an
extension to finalize and file his pre-trial report with the court and the court granted this request. We now
expect the expert to finalize and file his pre-trial report with the court during the quarter ending March 31,
2007, at which time we will respond.

On June 20, 2006, we filed suit against Remote Technologies, Inc. ['RTI"] alleging that RTI has infringed
certain of our patents. On July 28, 2006, we served RTI with a complaint, and RTl answered our complaint
on August 28, 2006, denying our claims of infringement. In its answer, RT| also filed a counterclaim alleg-
ing that our patents are invalid and not infringed. On September 19, 2006, we answered RTI's counterclaim
by denying its allegations and reasserting our original complaint. Frincipals of both companies have been
invotved in settlement discussions, and those discussions will continue. Because of the settlement discus-
sions, we have not yet commenced significant discovery in this matter. If we are not able to settle this mat-
ter, we will vigorously pursue this matter against RTl and will deferd against RTI's counterclaims.

There are no other material pending legal proceedings, other than litigation that is incidental to the
ordinary course of our business, to which we or any of our subsidiaries is a party or of which gur respective
property is the subject. We do not believe that any of the claims made against us in any of the pending mat-
ters have merit and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves against them.
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We maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which insures our individual directors and of-
ficers against certain claims such as those alleged in the above lawsuits, as well as attorney’s fees and
related expenses incurred in connection with the defense of such claims.

NOTE 22 SimpleDevices, Inc.

From October 1, 2004 through Decernber 31, 2004, we acquired over 9% of the outstanding shares of
SimpleDevices, Inc. for approximately $12.8 millien in cash, including direct acquisition costs of $0.3 mil-
lion. We intend to purchase the remaining shares when the sellers are located. The results of SimpleDe-

vices operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition
(October 1, 2004).

Pro forma resuits (unaudited): The following unaudited pro ferma financial information presents the com-
bined results of our cperations and SimpleDevices as if the acquisition had occurred at January 1, 2004. An
adjustment of $84 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2004 was made to the combined results of
operations, reflecting primarily the amortization of purchased intangible assets, net of tax. The pro-forma
net income does not reflect the write-off of $240,000 of acquired in-process research and development of
SimpleDevices.

Pro farma results for the year ended December 31, 2004 are listed below [in thousands):

Revenue: $ 159,760
MNet income: 5 7474
Basic and diluted net income per share:
Basic $ 0.55
Diluted 5 0.53

The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of the con-
solidated results of operations that would have been achieved had the acguisition actually been completed
as of the dates presented, and should not be taken as a projection of the future consolidated results of our
operations.

Potential Performance-Based Payment of Unregistered Commaon Stock: On October 1, 2004, in conjunction
with the purchase of SimpleDevices, we executed a Stock Option Exchange Agreement ["agreement”} with
the holders of non-vested options to purchase the commeoen stock of SimpleBevices. The terms of this
agreement included the cancellation of these non-vested opticns. In consideration for this cancellation
we extended the right to receive 65,842 shares of Universal Electronic Inc. unregistered stock contingent
on meeting certain periormance based criteria, including specified operating income levels through the
years ending December 31, 2005 and 2006. As of December 31, 2006, these performance targets were not
met. As such, the perfermance-based payment has not been reflected as part of the purchase price as of
December 31, 2006.
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NOTE 23 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are presented

below:
IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS MARCH 31,
Net sales $ 54,73
Gross profit 18,488
Operating income 3,130
Net income 2,136
Earnings per share 12

Basic S 016

Diluted $ 0.15
Shares used in computing earnings per share:

Basic 13,643

Diluted 14,240
IN THOUSANDS, EXCERT PER SHARE AMOUNTS MARCH 31,
Net sales $ 41,502
Gross profit 15,716
Operating income 1,684
Net income @ 1,856
Earnings per share 2:

Basic 5 0.4

Dituted ' $ 013
Shares used in computing earnings per share:

Basic 13,518

Dituted 14,082

s

$

2006
JUNE 30, SEPTEMBER 30,
52,370 $ 59,612
19,582 21,579
4,043 4,628
2,419 3,533
018 S  0.26
017 S 0.25
13,802 13,845
14,356 14,415
2005

JUNE 30, SERTEMBER 30,
44,322 5 46,206
15,718 16,994
974 3,671
1,545 2,777
ol § 021
01§ 020
13,467 13,391
13,983 13,918

DECEMRER 21,
$ 69,69
26,227
6,716
5,432

3 0.39
$ 0.37

13,982
14,717

DECEMBER 31,
$ 49,319
18,699
5,348
3,523

5 0.26
S 0.25

13,472
13,984

" (Juring the fourth quarter of 2005, the federal research and devetopment tax eredit statute was re-enacted, resultir g in a tax benefit of approxt-

mately $500 thousand for the guarier.

 The earmings per common share calculations for each of the quarters were based upon Lhe weighted average number of shares outstanding dur-
ing each penod, and the sum of the quarters may not be equal to the full year earnings per cemmon share amounts

W The comparability of the financial data for the second guarter of 2005 is affected by a one-tume $1.6 millian write down of a balance due from a

farmer European distributor.
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Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures: Exchange Act Rule 13a-15{d) defines "disclosure controls and pro-
cedures” to mean controls and procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disctosed by the campany in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported. within the time periods specified in the Commission’'s
rules and forms. The definition further states that disclosure cantrols and pracedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated
to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persans
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

An evatuation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our principal executive and principal financial officers, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disctosure controls and pracedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Based an that evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial officers have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective, as of the end of the period covered by this report, to
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time perieds
specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reparting: Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control aver financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Alsa, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal execu-
tive and principal financial officers, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the Internal Control-integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission [COS0] in Internal Control Integrated Framework, Based on
cur evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that our internal control aver financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006.

Management's assessment of the effeciiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in its attestatton report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Controf Over Financial Reporting: There have been no changes ininternal controls orin
other factors that could significantly affect our internal controls subsequent to the date the Chief Executive
Officer principal executive officer} and Chief Financial Officer [principal financial officer) completed their
evaluation.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRW
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Universal Electronics Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accempanying Universal Electronics tnc. Man-
agement’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Universal Electronics Inc, maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Cornmittee of Spensoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
{C050]. Universal Electronics Inc.'s management is respansible for maintaining effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting and for its assessmaent of tha effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Qur responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an cpinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reparting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Fublic Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financia. reporting, evaluating management's assess-
ment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financiat statements for external purposes
in accardance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internat control over financial report-
ing includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thal, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasenable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3] provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispesition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitatiens, internal control over financial reporting may net prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate.

In eur opinion, managemeant’s assessment that Universat Electronics Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COS0. Also, in our opinicn, Universal Electronics Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,
based on criteria established in Internal Cantrol-Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We alsc have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
[United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Universal Electronics Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the twa years in the
period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

WM B2, L

Grant Thornton LLP
Irvine, California
March 9, 2007
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GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation Tables

2006
IN THOLISANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS (UNAUDITED) GAAR
Net sales 69,691
Cost of sales 43,464
Gross profit 26,227
Research and development 1,838
Selling. general and
adminisirative expenses 17,673
Operaling expenses 19,511
Operating income 6,716
Interest income, net (343)
Other [income) expense, net (104)
Income before income taxes 7,163
Provision for income taxes (1,731)
Net income 5,432
Earnings per share diluted $ 0.37
2006
GAAP
Net sales 235,846
Cost of sales 149,970
Gross profit 85,876
Research and development 7,412
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 59,947
Operating expenses 67,359
Operating incorne 18,517
Interest income, net (1,401}
Other expense lincorne), net 498
Income before income taxes 19,420
Provision for income taxes (5,900)
Net incorme 13,520
Earnings per share diluted s 0.94

s

THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2006 2006
AD101 NON-GAARI
— 69,691
(6) 43,458
6 26,233
(79) 1,759
(540) 17,133
{(619) 18,892
625 7,341
- (343)
— (104)
625 7,788
(223) 1,954)
402 5834
0.03 $ 040
2006 2006
AD).n NON-GAAPH
- 235,846
(26) 149,344
26 85,902
{370} 7,042
(2,368) 57,579
(2,738) 64,621
2,764 21,281
— {1,401)
- 493
2,764 22,184
(987) {5,887}
1,777 15,297
042 % 1.06

1

H

2005

SAAP

49,319
30,621
18,698

1,628

1,723
13,351
5,347
(206)
(21)
5,574
(2,051)
3,523
0.25

2005

GAAP

181,349
114,222
67,127
6,580

48,870
55,450
11,677
(845)
{2,152)
14,674
(4,973)
9,701
0.69

$

H

2005
AD),'®

201
201
0.02

2005

ADy

(1,592)
(1,592}
1,592

1,592
1,592
012

2005

NOH-GAARM

49,318
30,621
18,698

1,628

11,723
13,351
5,347
(206)

21

5,574
(1,850)
3,724

s 027

2005

NON-GAAPID

181,349
114,222
57,127
6,580

47,278
53,858
13,269
{845}
(2,152}
16,266
(4,973)
11,293

$ o8

™ The adjustments between the GAAP and nan-GAAP consolidaled stalements of incgme for the three ang twelve months ended December 31, 2006
consist of share-based compensation expense for employee stock aptions and the related income tax eflect. as recognized in accordance with
SFAS 123R. The consolidated statements of income for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2005 de not include the effect of share-

based campensation expense, because UEH implemented SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2004,

W The adjustments between the GAAP and non-GAAP consolidated statements of iIncome for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 exclude
the second guarter 2005 write down of a receivablie due from a former European distributar.

¥ The adjustment between the GAAP and non-GAAP censobidatad statements of nceme for the three months ended December 33, 2005 inctudes the
tax effect of the secand quarter 2005 write down of a receivable due from a former European distributer.

" The nan-GAAP cansolidated stalement of income are nat in accordance with, or an aliernative for, generally accepted accaunting principles and
may be different from non-GAAP measures used by other companies. UE's management believes these non-GAAP measures, when shown in
cenjunction with the corresponding GAAP measures, facilitate the comparison of results for current periods with past periods.
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Performance Chart

{UNAUDITED]

The fotlowing graph and table compares the cumulative total stockholder return with respect to our Com-
rmon Stock versus the cumulative total return of our Peer Group Index [the "Peer Group Index”] and the Nas-
dag Composite Index (the "Nasdaq Composite tndex”] for the five (5] year period ended Decemnber 31, 2006,
The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2001 in each of our Common Stock, the
Peer Group Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index and that all dividends were reinvested. We have not

paid any dividends and, therefore, our cumulative total return calculation is based solely upen stock price
appreciation and not upon reinvestrment of dividends. The graph and table depicts year-end values based on
actuat market value increases and decreases relative to the initial investment of $100, based on information
provided for each calendar year by the Nasdag Stack Market and the New York Stock Exchange,

The comparisons in the graph and table below are based on historical data and are not intended to
forecast the possible future performance of our common stock.

Comparison of Stockholder Returns Among Universal Electronics Inc.,
the Peer Group Index " and the NASDAQ Composite Index

$350
$300
s250 | . —_
s200 | U

s1s0 |

s100 | —

t50 —

so T L) T + T

124310 12731702 1243103 12/31/04 12731105 12/31/06
3 UEIC & Peer Group Average B NASDAQ
12231701 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12731708 12031706

Universal Electronics Inc. $ o § 57 % 74 % 0w S 100 § 122
Peer Group Index $ 100 % 119 % 215 % 310§ 240 % 237
NASDAQ Composite Index $ oo § 68 103 n2 s 13 s 124

Information presented is as of the end of each calendar year for the perieds December 31, 2001 through
2006. This information shall not be deemed to be "seliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities
and Exchange Commission nor shall this information be incorporated by reference into any future filing
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. except
to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into a filing,

Ul Companses 1n the Prer Group Index are as follows Harman (niernstional Industries, tne , Kass Corporation, and Int-rlinb. Electronics

Recoton Corporation, which was included in the Peer Group Index in prior years, was not included in the Peer Group In:tex for the disclosure above On Aprit 8, 2003, Recoton Corporation and its
wholly-owned subsiduries hied for bankruptcy protection unger Chapter 11 of the Uniked States Bankrupicy Code The terms ot the Banks uptey requirsd Recoton to sell 15 remaining businesses and
allrelated s3zets

AMX Corporation, which was included i the Peer Group Inde in prior years. was notincluded in the Peer Group Index 'or the disclosure above On February 15, 2005, AMX Carparalion I"AMX™], Thrall
Omni Company, Inc |"Parent’}, and Amherst Acquisitien Co. ["Subcorp™} entered inta an Agreement and Plan of Merge- 1hat allowed, arnang other Ihing4. Subcarp to purchase all of the outstanding
shares of AMX's common sta¢k Foltewing the compleuon of the purchase 3t AMX's cammon stack, Subcerp was mergsd with andanto AMX, with AMX sufvvireg as & who'ly-pwned subsiiary of Parent
Baston Acoustics Inc . which was ingluded in the Peer Group indez n priar years, was not included in the Peet Group Inde« Far the disclosyre abave On June B, 2005, Boston Acouttics, Inc I"BA’)
entered inta an Agreement and Plan of Merger Ithe “Marger Agreement), with D&M Holdings U $ Inc lihe “Buyer | snd Allegra Acquisition Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary ol the Buyer [the "Merger
Sub*). The Merger Agreemunt previded thal the Merger Sub be merged with and into BA As a resull of the merger, BA aecame & whaily-owned subsidiiry of the Buyer
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Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Ofhicer
THQ, inc.

Agoura Hils, California

1 Member, Audil Cammltes

2 Member, Compensation
Cammtiee

3 Member, Corporate
Governance & Nom-nating

Commillee

Universal Electronics Ing
15 an equal oppai tulily mployer
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Paul D. Arling
Chairman and
Cheef Executive Officer

Paul J.M. Bennett
Executive Vice President and
Managing Director, Europe

Mark 5. Kopaskie
Executive Vice President
and General Manager, US

Richard A. Firehammer, Jr.
Seniar Vice President,
General Counsel and
Secretary

Olay Pouw
Senior Vice President Cantrol
and Technolagy Group, Europe

Pam Price
Senior Yice President of Sales

Ramzi 5. Ammari
Vice President of
Product Develapment

Steve Gutman
Vice Pres:dent of Cable Sales

Bryan Hackworth
Vice President and
Chiet Financial Ofhicer

Patrick H. Hayes
Vice President of Core
Technelogy Development

touHughes
Vice President of
Digital Media

OFFICERRS (v

Em Klaver
Vice President of Business
Development, Europe

Patrick Lems
Vice President of Corporate
Development, Europe

Jacques Mathijsen
Vice President of Product
Mangement, Europe

Brian Minor
Vice President of 0EM
Saies & North Amenica CEDIA

Dann Vidana
Vice President of Operations

Graham Williams
Vice President of Engineering

CEEPERATTE OFFICE

Universal Electronics Inc,
6101 Gateway Drive
Cypress. Califarma 90430

Locations:
6101 Gateway Drive
Cypress, Califorma 70630

& 1844 Enterprise Parkway West

Twinsburg, Ohio 44087

2121 El Caruno Real,
11th Floer
San Matea, Calilornia 94403

The Netherlands
Universal Electronics BY
Institutenweg 21 7521 PH
Enschede, Netherlands

ERESTEE EFENTAT @Y

Annual Meeting
4:00 p.m PT - June 14, 2007

Universat Electronics Inc
4105 Gateway Drive
Cypress, Califorma %3530

Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
Grant Thornton L_P
Iryine, California

Registrar & Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor
Services, LLC

2 Morth LaSalie Street
Chicaga, lllinois 60602
Phone [312] 5884991

L0 R MIROSKS

Any stockholder who desires
a copy of the Company s
2004 Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Securities
ang Exchange Commissian
may obtain a copy lexcluding
exhibits] without charge by
addressing a request to

Investor Relations
Umiversal Electronics inc
6101 Gateway Drive
Cypress, Cabforma 90630

A charge equal to *he repro-
duction cost will be made if the
exhibits are requested.
Universal's Internet address
15 www.uei.com, Universal
makes available through its
internet web site 1ts annual
report on Form 1B-K. Investors
can also obtain copies of our
SEC fitings from the SEC web
site at www.5ec.gov
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
5101 GATEWAY DRIVE
CYPRESS, CA 30630
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